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Members of the Board of Education
and the Citizens of Cleveland, Ohio

We are pleased to submit to you the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of
the Cleveland Municipal School District (the “School District”) for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018. This CAFR includes an opinion from the State Auditor and conforms to
generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governmental activities.
Responsibility for the accuracy of the data presented and the completeness and fairness of
the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the School District. To the best of our
knowledge and belief, the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in
a manner designed to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the
School District. This report will provide the taxpayers of the School District with
comprehensive financial data in a format which will enable them to gain an understanding
of the School District’s financial affairs. Copies will be made available to taxpayers,
financial rating services and other interested parties.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) requires that management provide a
narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements in the form of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to
complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The School District’s
MD&A can be found immediately following the Independent Accountants’ Report.

The School District
The Board of Education and Administration

The Board of Education of the School District (the “Board”) is a political and corporate
body charged with the responsibility of managing and controlling the affairs of the School
District, and is governed by the general laws of the State of Ohio (the “Ohio Revised
Code™). The Board is comprised of nine members who are appointed by the Mayor of the
City of Cleveland.

1111 Superior Ave E » Cleveland, OH 44114 « Office: 216.838.0000
ClevelandMetroSchools.org
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The Chief Executive Officer leads the School District’s academic work following the guidance of the
Board and aligned with five State performance standards:

1. Vision, Continuous Improvement, and Focus of District Work: Superintendents establish a
vision, expect continuous improvement and develop a focused plan for achieving district
goals.

2. Communication and Collaboration: Superintendents establish processes to communicate and
collaborate effectively.

3. Policies and Governance: Superintendents work with the Board of Education to identify,
prioritize and set policies and governance procedures that maximize the success of all
students.

4. Superintendents lead the creation of instructional systems designed for high student
achievement.

5. Superintendents manage and organize the District’s resources (human, fiscal, operational and
material) to accomplish District goals.

The Chief Executive Officer of the School District has the responsibility for hiring, directing and
assigning teachers and other employees, assigning the pupils to the proper schools, grades and performing
such other duties as determined by the appointed Board. In May of 2011, the Board with the concurrence
of the Mayor appointed Eric Gordon as the School District’s Chief Executive Officer with a one-year
contract effective July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2012. Mr. Gordon’s second contract was renewed and
expired after three years on June 30, 2015. He was unanimously appointed to a third contract running
through June 30 2019. Prior to being named the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Gordon served as the
School District’s Chief Academic Officer since 2007.

The Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer is the chief fiscal officer of the Board and the School District.
Under the current administrative structure, the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer reports to the Chief
Executive Officer. On August 1, 2017 the School District formally announced the appointment of Derek
Richey as the Chief Financial and Administrative Officer effective August 1, 2017. Derek Richey was
the former Executive Director of Budgets and Grants for the School District, and previously served as the
Director of Strategic Resource Use for the Metropolitan Nashville Public Schools.

The School District and its Facilities

Of the School District's area of approximately 82 square miles, 81.44 square miles (or 99.32 percent) are
in the City of Cleveland. The balance of the School District's area is located in and serves the entire area
of the Villages of Newburgh Heights, Linndale and Bratenahl and a small portion of the City of Garfield
Heights. The School District is located entirely within Cuyahoga County, and, with the exception of a
portion of the City of Cleveland located in the Shaker Heights City School District, its boundaries are
generally coterminous with the corporate boundaries of the City of Cleveland.

The School District provides approximately 400,000 Cleveland residents an efficient educational system
for the children enrolled in the public schools, whereby each child has access to programs and services
that are appropriate to his or her needs. In addition to regular educational programs, the School District
offers comprehensive vocational education, special education and bilingual education programs. The
School District’s specialty schools provide advanced educational programs in fine arts, computer science,
healthcare professions, law and municipal professions, business, and technical trades.

In fiscal year 2018, the School District was funded for 36,215 K-12 students according to the state
foundation payment system (compared to 36,598 the previous year) in 68 K-8 schools, and 37 senior high
schools. In addition, classes were provided in four residential school programs. The School District also
operated a variety of specialized educational facilities (consisting of gardens, athletic fields, a sheltered
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workshop and a greenhouse), eight administration facilities (including a central kitchen and two leased
sites) and two transportation depots. Recent trend data indicates that the District has slowed the loss of
students and district planning projections reflect slight growth for 2018 due to the return of students
leaving failing/closed community schools.

The School District has completed its seventeenth year of a massive school facility
construction/renovation project, which is described in more detail in the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis section. The project commenced in 2001 to address the condition and age of the existing
classroom facilities (which ranged from 25 to 113 years old).

Charter/Community Schools

Beginning in fiscal year 1999, State of Ohio legislation allowed for the creation of charter/community
schools. By law the School District receives State Foundation Aid for students attending
charter/community schools that are residents of the School District on a per pupil basis. That aid, which
includes an imputed local match, is paid out to the charter/community schools for their operations. The
number of students attending charter/community schools was 15,458 for fiscal 2018 (compared to 16,224
the previous year), resulting in the payment, from the School District of state aid, of $127.9 million.

Employee Relations

As of June 30, 2018, the School District had 6,036 full and part-time employees (compared to 5,713 the
previous year). The School District paid $410.3 million in salaries and wages and $149.8 million for
fringe benefits such as employer retirement contributions, health care, life insurance, and certain other
benefits.

The School District’s certificated administrators and supervisors (such as principals, assistant principals
and many central office staff) are not members of any bargaining unit but are represented by the
Cleveland Council Administrators and Supervisors; however, many of these individuals are employees on
an at-will basis. Teachers and educational specialists, including aides, are represented by the Cleveland
Teachers Union ("CTU").

In March 2017, the School District entered into a contract with CTU for a three-year period beginning
July 1, 2016 and ending June 30, 2019. This contract provides for 2% wage increase effective July 1,
2016 and 2.75% wage increases July 1, 2017 and July 1, 2018. Beginning in January 2018, CTU
members, who participate in the wellness incentive will also pay monthly healthcare premium costs of
$75 for individual and $170 for family coverage. CTU members who do not participate in the wellness
incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of the health insurance plan capped at $100 for single
coverage and $220 for family coverage. The parties are currently in negotiations for a successor
agreement. Members will also have the option to participate in the UH Choice option with monthly
contributions of $35 for single coverage and $100 for family coverage for those participating in the
wellness incentive and $50 for single coverage and $120 for family coverage for those who do not
participate in the wellness incentive.

Classified employees (secretarial-clerical, custodial, maintenance, transportation and cafeteria staff) of the
School District are represented for collective bargaining purposes by different unions, including:

o The International Brotherhood of Teamsters Local 407 (school bus drivers and bus attendants),
have entered into a two-year contract with the District for the period July 1, 2017 through June
30, 2019 with wage increases of 2.75% effective July 1, 2017 and July 1, 2018. Beginning in
January 2018, union members who participate in the wellness incentive will also pay monthly
healthcare premium costs of $75 for individual and $170 for family coverage. Members who do
not participate in the wellness incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of the health insurance
plan capped at $100 for single coverage and $220 for family coverage. Members will also have
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the option to participate in the UH Choice option with monthly contributions of $35 for single
coverage and $100 for family coverage for those participating in the wellness incentive and $50
for single coverage and $120 for family coverage for those who do not participate in the wellness
incentive;

The City, County, and State Truck Drivers Union Local 244 (truck drivers), now represented by
Teamsters Local 436, have entered into a two-year contract with the District for the period July 1,
2017 through June 30, 2019 with wage increases of 2.75% effective July 1, 2017 and July 1,
2018. Beginning in January 2018, union members who participate in the wellness incentive will
also pay monthly healthcare premium costs of $75 for individual and $170 for family coverage.
Members who do not participate in the wellness incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of
the health insurance plan capped at $100 for single coverage and $220 for family coverage.
Members will also have the option to participate in the UH Choice option with monthly
contributions of $35 for single coverage and $100 for family coverage for those participating in
the wellness incentive and $50 for single coverage and $120 for family coverage for those who do
not participate in the wellness incentive;

The National Conference of Fireman and Oilers Local 860 (assistant custodians, laborers, and
mechanics), are still in contract negotiations with the District. Beginning in January 2018, union
members who participate in the wellness incentive will also pay monthly healthcare premium
costs of $75 for individual and $170 for family coverage. Members who do not participate in the
wellness incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of the health insurance plan capped at $100
for single coverage and $220 for family coverage. Members will also have the option to
participate in the UH Choice option with monthly contributions of $35 for single coverage and
$100 for family coverage for those participating in the wellness incentive and $50 for single
coverage and $120 for family coverage for those who do not participate in the wellness incentive;
The International Brotherhood of Teamsters Local 436 no longer represents the District’s security
officers, who are now represented by the Ohio Patrolmen’s Benevolent Association (OPBA) and
are still in contract negotiations with the District. Beginning in January 2018, union members
who participate in the wellness incentive will also pay monthly healthcare premium costs of $75
for individual and $170 for family coverage. Members who do not participate in the wellness
incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of the health insurance plan capped at $100 for single
coverage and $220 for family coverage. Members will also have the option to participate in the
UH Choice option with monthly contributions of $35 for single coverage and $100 for family
coverage for those participating in the wellness incentive and $50 for single coverage and $120
for family coverage for those who do not participate in the wellness incentive;

The Service Employees International Union Local 1199 (clerical, food service and cleaning staff),
have entered into a two-year contract with the District for the period July 1, 2017 through June
30, 2019 with wage increases of 2.75% effective July 1, 2017 and July 1, 2018 for employees
with an annual compensation of more than $27,040. Those employees earning $27,040 on an
annualized basis received a $1.00 per hour increase effective July 1, 2017. Beginning in January
2018, union members who participate in the wellness incentive will also pay monthly healthcare
premium costs of $75 for individual and $170 for family coverage. Members who do not
participate in the wellness incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of the health insurance
plan capped at $100 for single coverage and $220 for family coverage. Members will also have
the option to participate in the UH Choice option with monthly contributions of $35 for single
coverage and $100 for family coverage for those participating in the wellness incentive and $50
for single coverage and $120 for family coverage for those who do not participate in the wellness
incentive. Beginning in January 2018, union members who earn $27,040 or less, on an
annualized basis, will pay 65% of the monthly contribution paid by District 1199 members, who
earn more than $27,040 on an annualized basis. For those employees whose annualized wage are
$27,040 or less, employee contribution shall be 6.5% of monthly healthcare premium costs
capped at $75 for individual and $170 for family coverage. If at any time the employee’s
annualized wages exceed $23,000, the employees contribution shall be increased to 10% effective
the first month after the annualized wages exceed;
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e The Cleveland Building Trades Council (trades people) and the carpenters union, have entered in
to a two-year contract with the District for the period July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2019 with
wage increases of 2.75% effective July 1, 2017 and July 1,2018. Beginning in January 2018,
union members who participate in the wellness incentive will also pay monthly healthcare
premium costs of $75 for individual and $170 for family coverage. Members who do not
participate in the wellness incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of the health insurance
plan capped at $100 for single coverage and $220 for family coverage. Members will also have
the option to participate in the UH Choice option with monthly contributions of $35 for single
coverage and $100 for family coverage for those participating in the wellness incentive and $50
for single coverage and $120 for family coverage for those who do not participate in the wellness
incentive; and

o The National Conference of Fireman and Oilers Local 777 (custodians), with a three year
agreement ending on June 30, 2018, with a 3% compensation increase in the first year of the
contract, a stipend of $800 to be paid in the second year of the contract since sufficient progress
was made toward a differentiated compensation system and a 1% increase in the third year of the
contract. Members will pay 10% of monthly healthcare premium costs capped at $75 for
individual and $170 for family coverage. For fiscal year 2017, they agreed to extend the previous
contract for one year with a 2% compensation increase for the year. Beginning in January 2018,
union members who participate in the wellness incentive will also pay monthly healthcare
premium costs of $75 for individual and $170 for family coverage. Members who do not
participate in the wellness incentive will pay 10% of the COBRA cost of the health insurance
plan capped at $100 for single coverage and $220 for family coverage. Members will also have
the option to participate in the UH Choice option with monthly contributions of $35 for single
coverage and $100 for family coverage for those participating in the wellness incentive and $50
for single coverage and $120 for family coverage for those who do not participate in the wellness
incentive

The Reporting Entity

The School District has reviewed its reporting entity definition in order to ensure conformance with the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting Entity,”
Statement No. 61, “The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus; an amendment of GASB Statements No.
14 and No. 34,” and Statement No. 39, “Determining Whether Certain Organizations are Component
Units.” The basic financial statements include all organizations, activities and functions for which the
School District is financially accountable.

Excluded from the reporting entity because they are fiscally independent of the School District are the
City of Cleveland and the Cleveland Public Library. The City of Cleveland and the Cleveland Public
Library are related organizations whose relationships to the School District are described in Note 19 to the
basic financial statements. The School District also participates in the Ohio Schools Council, which is a
jointly governed organization. In 2001, the School District created the Bond Accountability Commission
(“BAC"), which is also a jointly governed organization. These relationships are described in Note 20 to
the basic financial statements.

The School District is an independent municipal school district and is not a component unit of another
government. A complete discussion of the School District's reporting entity is provided in Note 1 to the
basic financial statements.

Economic Condition and Outlook

The School District’s primary sources of revenues are from the State of Ohio through the State
Foundation program and through the levying of property taxes on real property located within the School
District. These two sources combined represent approximately 94 percent of the School District’s fiscal
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year 2018 budget basis General Fund operating revenues. The following discussion provides additional
information pertaining to these revenue sources.

Taxes

Property taxes are levied and assessed on a calendar year basis. Second half distributions generally occur
in a new fiscal year. Property taxes include amounts levied against all real and public utility located in
the School District. Real property taxes are levied after April 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior
January 1, the lien date. Public utility property taxes attached as a lien on December 31 of the prior year
were levied April 1 and are collected with real property taxes. Assessed values for real property taxes are
established by State law at 35 percent of appraised market value. All property is required to be revalued
every six years.

A table showing the assessed valuation of property in the School District, subject to ad valorem taxes by
the Board for the most recent ten years, is presented in the statistical section.

Fiscal year 2018 property taxes are currently estimated by the Cuyahoga County Auditor’s Office based
on a current collection rate of 88.4%, down from 89.4%. The forecast through 2023 assumes a current
collection rate of 88.4%. The Ohio Revised Code and Ohio Administrative Code mandate Cuyahoga
County to conduct a re-appraisal every six years, an update every three years and annual valuation of
improvements based upon building permits received from each city annually. As of November 2018, the
County is certifying its re-appraisal valuations and the District anticipates an 8% increase for both
residential and commercial properties. The next re-appraisal is scheduled for the year 2021.

State law grants tax relief to property owners (property tax rollbacks) in the form of a 10% reduction in
real property tax bills. In addition, a 2.5% rollback is granted for owner occupied homesteads (total of
12.5%). The State reimburses the School District for the loss of real property taxes as a result of the
rollback provisions. HB 66 eliminated the 10% rollback on commercial property; hence the School
District will no longer receive a State reimbursement for those dollars, as it will receive those payments
directly from commercial property owners. The new law states that the ten percent and two and one-half
percent rollbacks will no longer apply to new levies that are enacted after August 31, 2013.

House Bill 66 phases out the tax on the tangible personal property of general businesses, telephone and
telecommunications, and railroads. The tax on general business and railroad property was eliminated in
2009, and the tax on telephone and telecommunications property was eliminated in 2011. The tax is
phased out by reducing the assessment rate on the property each year. HB 66 makes provision to replace
revenue lost due to the phase out of the tangible personal property tax. Businesses are now subject to a
commercial activity tax (CAT) that will provide some replacement income to school districts for the lost
tangible property revenues.

Ohio law grants tax credits to offset increases in taxes resulting from increases in the true value of real
property. Legislation implementing a 1980 constitutional amendment classifies real property between (1)
residential and agricultural and (2) all other real property, and provides for tax reduction factors to be
separately computed for and applied to each class. These credits apply to certain voted levies on real
property, and do not apply to unvoted tax levies or voted tax levies to pay debt service on general
obligation debt.

Additionally, in 1976 the General Assembly passed House Bill 920. This law provides that real property
owners receive tax credits equal to any tax increase caused by an increase in value of all real property in
taxing districts as a result of reappraisal, update or readjustment. This does not apply to inside non-voted
millage, tangible property or new construction. In effect, H.B. 920 removes inflationary revenue growth
from the applicable real property by requiring an adjustment to the voted millage rate, thereby resulting in
a lower effective millage rate.
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Property tax levies and collections for the last ten years are shown in comparative format in the statistical
section.

School Foundation

The State’s School Foundation Program is another major source of revenue for the School District’s
General Fund. The State assists public school districts under a statutory program, which includes direct
payments to districts based upon a statutory formula. Such payments are made through the School
Foundation Program established by the Ohio Revised Code. School Foundation Program funds
distributed to a School District are required to be used for current operating expenses, unless specifically
allocated by the State for some other purpose.

As before, foundation payments are calculated twice a month and for each payment a foundation letter is
generated, that specifically references that payment and provides detailed information on the formula
funding calculation, as well as the distribution of various other funds and transfers by which the
foundation calculation is adjusted. In addition to the School Finance Payment Report (SFPR), which
contains the foundation calculation details, a Statement of Settlement report is also provided, as before,
that summarizes the payment information to school districts based on the SFPR calculation and
adjustments as well as additional adjustments and transfers from outside of the foundation formula that
are relevant to each payment.

The SFPR is a comprehensive document designed to walk the user through every step of the funding
calculation with relative ease by referencing the data and the funding formulae provided.

Foundation Funding Components that make up the foundation formula are:

. Opportunity Grant

. Targeted Assistance

. K-3 Literacy Funding

. Economic Disadvantaged Funding

. Limited English Proficiency Funding
Gifted Education Funding

. Transportation Funding

. Special Education Additional Funding
Career Tech Educational Funding
Capacity Aid

. Graduation Bonus

. Third Grade Reading Bonus

CRATrTZoOTmEmoQwe

In addition to these funding components, the foundation formula also provides for a Transitional
Guarantee which guarantees that no district will receive less in total FY 2018 funding than it did in FY
2017 by distributing the difference between the FY 2017 total funding (guarantee base) and the FY 2018
total calculated amount. Although the formula guarantees at least the FY 2017 total funding, it also caps
the FY 2018 calculated funding at 7.5% above the FY 2017 funding level.

There can be no assurance concerning future funding levels for or the details of State funding for school
districts. As has been the case in the past, funding can also been subject to adjustment during a biennium.
As indicated above, the General Assembly has the power to amend the system of State school funding.
The School District cannot predict whether, when or in what form any future system of State school
funding will be enacted into law.
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Local Economy

The City of Cleveland is located on the southern shores of Lake Erie, and is the county seat of Cuyahoga
County. The City is included in the Cleveland-Elyria-Mentor, OH Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA),
comprised of Cuyahoga, Lake, Lorain, Geauga, and Medina counties. This MSA is the 28" largest of 366
Metropolitan Areas in the United States, and the largest Metropolitan Area in the State of Ohio. Founded
in 1796, Cleveland quickly established economic strengths in heavy industry, including oil, iron and steel,
and combined with its favorable location on major shipping channels soon emerged as the dominant
manufacturing and business center of Northeast Ohio. While the City’s economy has shifted more toward
health care and financial services, its manufacturing base has assumed a smaller, yet still vital role.
Competitive pressures in manufacturing have limited job creation, but the competitive position of
Cleveland-based industrial companies has improved.

Cleveland’s economic condition draws strength and stability from its evolving role as a focal point of a
growing, changing and substantial regional economy. The City is located at the center of one of the
nation’s heaviest population concentrations. The Cleveland Metropolitan Area is a significant local
market, housing 2.1 million people. Cleveland also provides superior links to the global markets. The
Cleveland-Cuyahoga Port Authority handles the largest amount of overseas cargo on Lake Erie and
includes a Foreign Trade Zone. The City is also well-served with extensive highways, and the Cleveland
Hopkins International Airport which is serviced by all major airlines. The re-emergence of downtown
Cleveland as a vibrant center for national and regional entertainment and major cultural activities signals
a turning point in the City’s overall fortunes and is paving the way for further economic expansion that
will be significantly more entrepreneurial in scope.

Downtown and Other Economic Development

o In the fall of 2014, the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) commenced construction on
its Opportunity Corridor Project, a three-mile, approximately $306 million road project that is
designed to improve the transportation system and support planned economic development within
the City in the areas between 1-490/1-77 and University Circle. The Opportunity Corridor
encompasses nearly 1,000 acres on the City’s southeast side and is anchored by University Circle
and the Cleveland Clinic. In addition to transportation benefits, it is anticipated that the
Opportunity Corridor Project will bring new economic development and new jobs to the
community. The Opportunity Corridor Project supports an economic development plan of the
City and Greater Cleveland Partnership for the area through enhanced mobility, direct access to
freeways and the University Circle area, new frontage for potential development, improved
visibility and improved multi-modal access. The Opportunity Corridor Project is divided into
three stages: the first stage commenced in the fall of 2014; the second stage commenced in the
spring of 2016; and the third stage is expected to commence in 2018 with targeted completion in
2021.

e One of the central focus areas is the Health Tech Corridor, a three-block transit-oriented
development running from Cleveland State University to University Circle, encompassing 1,600
acres. The Health Tech Corridor includes three colleges and universities and three major
hospitals. In 2014, RTA completed a new transit station in University Circle on Cedar Avenue
and completed construction of a new transit station on Mayfield Road in August 2015. These
stations complement RTA’s Health Line transportation system by connecting it to the City’s
second “downtown.” The Health Line was key in the retention of Dealer Tire in the City’s
Midtown area. Dealer Tire recently opened their new Headquarters at the Victory Center,
keeping their 450 employees in the City. They intend to add over 100 jobs in the next three
years. The area also continues to provide a location for incubated health technology companies
like Abeona, which has announced its intention to build a private gene manufacturing facility
(one of 10 in the United States) in the Health Tech Corridor.

e Hemingway Development and University Hospitals have agreed to purchase a ten acre
Brownfield site that the City assembled and cleaned up. University Hospitals is developing
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another Health Technology Campus to be anchored by a 40,000 square foot University Hospitals
Clinic for women and children, which broke ground in December 2016 and opened in July of
2018. Hemingway also broke ground in 2016 on a 60,000 square foot speculative tech center.
Construction is expected to completed in 2018, with much of the space preleased. A new Hilton
Tru hotel is under construction in the area to meet the rising demand from the medical and
technology developments in the corridor

A development team of First Interstate Properties, Ltd., and Petros Development Corp. began
construction in summer 2016 on One University Circle, a new 28-story residential tower in
University Circle, five miles east of downtown in the vicinity of the Cleveland Clinic, Case
Western Reserve University and many of the City’s cultural institutions. Midwest Development
Partners and the Coral Company plan to start construction on Centric, a residential and office
complex, with expectations of occupancy in August of 2018. The two projects represent a total
investment in the University Circle area of over $180 million.

In 2013, the Cleveland Clinic demolished a block of buildings across from its campus to make
way for a new medical school in partnership with Case Western Reserve University. Originally
planned as a 165,000 square foot medical education building, the project has now been expanded
to become a Health Education Campus of in excess of 485,000 square feet and a cost over $515
million. The project broke ground on October 1, 2015 and is expected to be completed in mid-
2019. The Cleveland Clinic opened its $276 million 377,000 square foot Taussig Cancer Center
in March of 2017. The Clinic is converting the former Cancer Center building into the 120,000-
square-foot new home of the Cleveland Clinic Children’s outpatient facility. The $20 million
renovated facility is expected to open in the fall of 2018.

In 2014, MetroHealth Medical Center announced its campus transformation project. As part of
the multi-year project, MetroHealth opened its $86 million Critical Care Pavilion in 2016. A
1,500-space parking garage is expected to be completed in 2018. A new hospital and other
buildings are in the design process, with construction expected to commence in the spring of 2019
on the new hospital. The total cost for all phases of the campus transformation is anticipated to
be approximately $1 billion.

The County’s $465 million Convention Center and Global Center for Health Innovation project in
the City’s downtown was completed in 2013. The project included an integrated facility for (i)
exhibition space and showrooms for medical devices and equipment and related functions (the
Global Center for Health Innovation) and (ii) exhibition, tradeshow and conference facilities,
meeting rooms and related functions. A $260 million Hilton convention center hotel, funded
through bonds issued by the County, opened in mid-2016 in time for the Republican National
Convention. The 30-story, 650-room Hilton was built on the site of the former County
administration building, which was razed in early 2014. Several other hotels were completed in
time for the Republican National Convention. They include the 481- room Westin, which opened
in the spring of 2014; the 150-room Metropolitan, which opened in the fall of 2014; the 120-room
Kimpton Schofield which opened in March 2016, and the 180-room Drury Plaza Hotel, which
opened in April 2016.

Exployrs, a Cleveland Clinic incubated software company, was purchased by IBM which intends
to keep the company in the City and plans to add 100 jobs to its current workforce. They are in
the process of constructing a new headquarters in the City at the intersection of East 105" Street
and Cedar Avenue, along the Opportunity Corridor.

The $275 million Cleveland Flats East Development Project Phase I was completed in 2013.
This project consisted of an approximately 476,000 square foot, 18-story office tower, an
approximate 550-space parking garage, a 150-room Aloft hotel, and approximately 31,000 square
feet of restaurant and retail space. The $146 million Phase II included 243 apartments and 80,000
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square feet of ground floor restaurant and retail space, as well as 48,000 square feet of
entertainment space. A 1,200 linear foot river walk has been completed and provides access to
the riverfront. The Phase II grand opening was held in October 2015. The Metroparks has
opened a seasonal water taxi service that connects both sides of the river with future plans to
connect in the future to a lakefront beach Wendy Park, furthering the tourist draws to this area.

e The Ohio City neighborhood continues to grow and be a destination for residents and tourists.
The neighborhood includes the City-owned West Side Market, the oldest continually operating
market in the country, which recently celebrated its 100™ anniversary. The West 25th Street
Lofts Project created 83 loft style apartments and some rooftop penthouse units, as well as 9,100
square feet of commercial space. The last of the apartments were completed in December 2016.
Total project cost was over $60 million. Abode Modern Lifestyle Developers has assembled four
acres of land with hopes of constructing a $40 to $50 million new mixed use development. The
area has seen more than $15 million in new investments, to redevelop over 198,000 square feet of
vacant or underutilized mixed use space, including historic renovations and some new
construction. The Snavely Group has announced a $60 million mixed-use, mixed-income
development that began construction in October 2016. The success of Ohio City investments has
led to development moving along the retail corridor on Lorain Avenue, with investors buying
buildings from West 25" Street to West 50™ Street, with a variety of retail and commercial
projects that include microbreweries, a home brewing supplier, an organic grocery store,
restaurants and a shuffle board club. Many of the buildings are renovating long vacant
apartments over the first floor retail space as the Ohio City housing market continues to draw new
residents from all income levels, looking to be in this walkable, transit-oriented community.

e The Cleveland Cavaliers have announced that there will be a $140 million transformation of the
Quicken Loans Arena, which is the home of the Cleveland Cavaliers. A deal was reached earlier
this year that local governments will provide half of the funding and the Cleveland Cavaliers will
cover the remaining half plus any cost overruns. This deal will extend the Cavaliers lease of the
arena from 2027 to 2034. The team also pledged to rehab basketball floors in all of the City’s
recreation centers and all of the District’s high schools. This pledge would involve about 40
gymnasiums.

Major Initiatives
The Cleveland Plan (H.B. 525)

Six years ago, in July 2012, Governor John Kasich signed House Bill 525, also known as “The Cleveland
Plan,” into law. Cleveland Mayor Frank Jackson, Governor Kasich, the General Assembly, the Cleveland
Teacher’s Union and the Cleveland business community collaborated to create a plan for the School
District to improve standards, reward, retain, and recruit high-quality educators, and increase school
autonomy and accountability.

The goal of this plan is to ensure that every child in Cleveland attends a high-quality school and that
every neighborhood has a multitude of great schools from which families can choose. To reach this goal,
Cleveland must transition from a traditional, single-course school district to a new system of district and
charter schools that are held to the highest standards and work in partnership to create dramatic student
achievement gains for every child. The plan is built upon growing the number of excellent schools in
Cleveland, regardless of provider, and giving these schools autonomy over staff and budgets in exchange
for high accountability for performance. It aims to create an environment that empowers and values
principals and teachers as professionals and makes certain that our students are held to the highest
expectations.

This plan is driven by a fierce sense of urgency. The intensity of global competition demands that
students in Cleveland build the knowledge, skills and attributes that position them to be successful and
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competitive in the 21* Century global economy. The future must include many different kinds of schools
that give children and their parents choices from an array of innovative options. Fundamentally, schools
in Cleveland must break the one-size-fits-all premise of today’s education system.

This plan recognizes that public education in Cleveland is at a crossroads. Recent reform efforts
undertaken by the District and its partners have generated positive results for some students. The number
of high-performing district and charter schools in Cleveland has grown from 14 in 2006 to 37 in 2011,
enrolling more than 11,400 students. And the District now offers a more diverse set of options for
students and families than ever before, including 13 new schools opened since 2006. However, the pace
of change is not fast enough, nor deep enough to overcome the challenges facing the District. We have
no other option but to reinvent our school system, as unacceptable academic performance, declining
enrollment and an untenable financial situation threaten the very existence of public education in the city.

Cleveland’s Plan for Transforming Schools is grounded in an emerging national approach known as the
“Portfolio Strategy,” which is showing promising results in cities such as Baltimore, Denver and New
York. It has four major components:

Grow the number of High-Performing District and Charter Schools in Cleveland: The principal
focus of this work is to significantly increase the number of high-performing schools while reducing and
eventually eliminating low-performing schools. To do this, the District will employ four distinct
strategies. (1) Promote, expand and replicate existing high-performing District and charter schools.
Great schools, measured by a consistent standard of quality, will have full autonomy over school budgets,
staff selection and assignment, academic and student support programs, school calendar and school
schedules in exchange for high accountability standards and access to financial and other resources. (2)
Start new schools. Cleveland will attract the best national education models to our city, invent our own
schools that are unique to Cleveland and encourage local community partners and Cleveland teachers to
co-create new and innovative school models. (3) Refocus and strengthen mid-performing schools. For
those schools that meet minimum state standards and have some critical academic and social conditions in
place, the District will employ precise, customized and differentiated interventions and investments and
grant some levels of autonomy. (4) Repurpose and address low-performing schools. The lowest
performing schools will be targeted for immediate and dramatic action, including closure and
reassignment of students to better schools, closure and start-up of a new school, phase in of a new
program and phase out of the old, or turning the school over to a capable charter operator.

Focus District’s Central Office on key roles and Transfer Authority and Resources to Schools:
Organizational roles and relationships will change in three fundamental ways. The primary focus of
central office will be to oversee the portfolio of schools to ensure continuous improvement, provide
system coordination for essential functions (enrollment, data systems, etc.) and provide some targeted
services directly to schools. Secondly, schools will be given varying levels of autonomy based on their
level of performance and will be accountable for delivering an excellent education. All schools will have
to abide by certain state and federal requirements, such as state testing and serving students with
disabilities and English language learners, among others. Finally, the District will shift to weighted per-
pupil funding system for all schools and transfer a majority of spending control to schools based on the
number and needs of the students they enroll. This will include the transfer of some locally generated tax
revenues to high-performing charter schools, that are sponsored by or have agreements with the District.

Invest and Phase in High-Levering System reforms across all schools: Beyond investments in this
new, performance-based system of schools, Cleveland will invest in several fundamental building blocks
upon which this plan must be built: high-quality preschool education, college and workforce readiness,
year-round calendar, talent recruitment and capacity building, academic technology enhancement and
support for high-quality charter schools.

Create the Cleveland Transformation Alliance to ensure accountability for all public schools: The
Cleveland Transformation Alliance, a public-private partnership with representatives from the District,
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the charter sector and the community, will be charged with ensuring the growth of the portfolio of high-
performing District and charter schools in Cleveland. It will assume the following unique roles: ensure
fidelity to the citywide education plan, assess the quality of all Cleveland schools, communicate to
parents about quality school choices and serve as a watchdog for charter sector growth in Cleveland.

Cleveland’s plan requires the right policy conditions including necessary changes in state policy, a fresh
start in labor-management agreements and relationships and a financial sustainability plan. The long-term
survival of the District is dependent upon the interwoven elements outlined in this plan.

The Seven Components of the Portfolio Strategy as Envisioned in The Cleveland Plan:

The Portfolio strategy is a performance management model for districts that aim to create dramatic
student achievement gains at scale. It centers on creating more high-quality schools regardless of
provider, giving schools autonomy over staff and funding, and holding all schools accountable for
performance. The Portfolio Strategy is built on 7 key components:

Good options and choices for all families
School Autonomy

Pupil-Based Funding for all schools

Talent seeking strategy

Sources of support for schools
Performance-based accountability for schools
Extensive public engagement

District’s Theory of Action

The District believes that principals and their leadership teams are best positioned to drive college and
career ready learning and to fulfill the ambitious student achievement goals of The Cleveland Plan.

Over the next two years, the District will systematically empower all school leadership teams to assume
increasing responsibility for the instructional design and programming at their schools. By August 2019,
all schools will be able to select instructional services and resources off of a menu of options that they
also help to create and that will expand and improve over time.

Supporting flexible implementation of a strong instructional core will require central office to realign a
number of its practices so that it can focus on holding schools accountable for outcomes and providing as-
needed support to schools in utilizing these increased flexibilities.

Generally, we will need to:
1. Realign our principal selection, development, and accountability processes.
2. Refocus network support services.
3. Align central support services, and
4. Develop a communications and feedback system to ensure successful completion of action steps.

Cleveland Plan Progress

Following implementation of The Cleveland Plan, the School District in the 2017-2018 school year,
achieved the following benchmarks:

o Expanded Quality Preschool: adding 1,961 seats over four years to a grand total of 4,818 seats.
K-3 Literacy Improvement: the District outperformed 113 other Ohio school districts

e Third Grade Reading Guarantee: 83.9% of students were promoted to 4™ grade this year, an
increase of 4.3% from the previous year
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e Increased Graduation Rate: Graduation Rates have increased 22.4% since the 2010-2011 school
year. In 2017-2018 the graduation rate was 74.6%. This represents the fourth fastest growing
rate in Ohio since 2011 and the fastest growing rate among state’s large urban districts.

Report Card Gains: Increased on 19 of 21 test score indicators

e Reduction in off-track Attendance: There are 22% fewer students missing more than ten days in a
school year over the last three years.

e Active Parent Engagement: 86.6% of the District’s parents met with their children’s teachers last
year

Additionally to the above progress, the following is also happening in the District:

e Wide-Ranging School Choices: The District continues to expand quality school options that
enable students and families to attend the right school, to meet their needs and interests. Under
the Cleveland Plan, the District added 16 new high school models in the last four years. This
school year, 14 PreK-8 schools are implementing new academic designs that emphasize student-
led inquiry, personalized learning or technology.

e Committed Community Partnerships: The District’s students, teachers and parents are supported
by more than 160 community agencies, including area hospitals, foundations, universities,
corporations and service organizations, all committed to providing families with assets, resources
and supports they need. That support continues to grow with nine Boys and Girls Clubs, 19
medical clinics, 65 annual dental clinics, 52 after school programs and 15 summer meal sites in
the summer.

e Sports and Extracurricular Activities: Participation in interscholastic and extracurricular
activities has a direct, positive impact on a student’s academic performance, attendance and
personal and social development. Students in grades 1-12 have access to a host of clubs,
competitive sports and extracurricular field trips to meet the diverse interests of every child.

e CMSD Parent University College Bus Tours: This is an opportunity for families to experience
college with their scholars. This opportunity allows families to make college or post-secondary
education a reality. During the visits, families meet with admission representatives, take a
walking tour of the campus and speak with current students. These trips allow families an
opportunity to understand their role in their scholars’ post-secondary education, FAFSA, college
admission and the supports available to help them to succeed and graduate.

e Continues to attract top talent: The District aggressively recruits school leaders and teachers to
ensure our students have the best instruction and guidance. Our Teach Cleveland initiative
actively recruits educators who are passionate about serving children in urban schools.

Long-Term Financial Planning

The Board of Education has assigned responsibility for annual and long-term financial planning to the Chief
Financial Officer/Treasurer. The policies require that the first objective of financial management planning
is to provide for the education of the School District’s children. We are expected to use the best available
techniques for budget development and management, as well as to engage in strategic, long-term financial
planning which attempts to forecast the need for future educational and capital expenditures.

The School District prepares a Five Year Forecast along with assumptions prior to October 31* of each
fiscal year and updates this forecast between April 1 and May 31% of each fiscal year.

Relevant Financial Policies

At the beginning of each fiscal year, the School District adopts either a temporary or permanent
appropriation measure for that fiscal year. If a temporary appropriation measure is first adopted, the
permanent appropriation measure must be adopted upon receipt from the County Fiscal Officer of an
amended certificate of estimated resources based on final assessed values and tax rates, which is usually
within the first three months of the fiscal year.
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Annual appropriations may not exceed the County Budget Commission's official estimate of resources. The
County Fiscal Officer must certify that the School District's appropriation measures, including any
supplements or amendments, do not exceed the amount set forth in the latest of those official estimates.

All disbursements and transfers of cash between funds require appropriation authority. Budgets are
controlled at the fund level. All purchase order requests must be approved by the appropriate levels of
authority and certified by the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer; necessary funds are then encumbered and
purchase orders are released to vendors.

The accounting system used by the School District provides interim financial reports which detail
year-to-date expenditures and encumbrances versus the original appropriation plus any additional
appropriations made to date.

Each administrator and school principal is furnished monthly reports showing the status of the budget
accounts for which they are responsible. In addition, an on-line inquiry system is available for each cost
center site.

The School District pursues an aggressive cash management program by expediting the receipt of revenues
and prudently investing and depositing available cash in obligations collateralized by instruments issued by
the United States Government, governmental agencies, corporations or the State of Ohio or insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and/or the Securities Investor Protection Corporation
(SIPC).

Protection of the School District’s deposits is provided by the federal deposit insurance corporation and/or
by qualified securities pledged by the institution holding the assets. By law, financial intuitions may
establish a collateral pool to cover all public deposits. The market value of the pooled collateral must equal
at least 105 percent of public funds deposited. Collateral is held by trustees including the Federal Reserve
Bank and other designated third-party trustees of the financial institutions.

Internal Controls

Management of the School District is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control
structure designed to ensure that the assets of the School District are protected from loss, theft or misuse.
The internal control structure ensures that accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP. The internal control structure is designed to provide
reasonable assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that (1)
the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of costs and
benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

As a recipient of federal, state, and county financial assistance, the School District is also responsible for
maintaining a rigorous internal control structure that ensures full compliance with applicable laws and
regulations related to those programs. This internal control structure is subject to periodic evaluation by
management, external auditors and the internal audit staff of the School District. The School District is
required to undergo an annual audit in conformity with the provisions of the Uniform Guidance Title II
Subtitle A Chapter 2 Part 200, Section 501. The information related to the Single Audit, including the
schedule of federal awards expenditures, findings and recommendations, and auditor’s reports on the
internal control structure and compliance with applicable laws and regulations are included in a separate
report.
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Awards
ASBO International Certificate of Excellence

The School District received the Association of School Business Officials (ASBO) International Certificate
of Excellence in Financial Reporting for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2017. This award certifies that the report substantially conforms to the principles and
standards of financial reporting as recommended and adopted by ASBO. The award is granted only after an
intensive review of financial reports by an expert ASBO panel of review consisting of certified public
accountants and practicing School business officials. Receiving the award is recognition that a School
system has met the highest standards of excellence in School financial reporting.

A Certificate of Excellence is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current report continues
to conform to the Certificate of Excellence program requirements, and we are submitting it to ASBO.

Acknowledgments

The publication of this report signifies a professionalizing of the School District’s financial reporting. It
enhances the School District’s accountability to the residents of the School District.

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the assistance and support of the staff
of the Financial Reporting’s Division of the Finance Department.

Finally, we would like to acknowledge members of the Board who have expressed their interest and support
in planning and conducting the financial operations of the School District.

Respectfully submitted,

Derek Richey
Chief Financial Officer

The Cleveland Municipal School District does not discriminate in educational programs, activities or employment
on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, religion or disability.
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OHIO AUDITOR OF STATE
KEITH FABER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Cleveland Municipal School District
Cuyahoga County

1111 Superior Avenue E, Suite 1800
Cleveland, Ohio 44114

To the Board of Education:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Cleveland Municipal School District, Cuyahoga
County, Ohio (the District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for preparing and fairly presenting these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes designing,
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to preparing and fairly presenting financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to opine on these financial statements based on our audit. We audited in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the financial audit standards
in the Comptroller General of the United States’ Government Auditing Standards. Those standards require
us to plan and perform the audit to reasonably assure the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit requires obtaining evidence about financial statement amounts and disclosures. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including assessing the risks of material financial statement
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In assessing those risks, we consider internal control relevant
to the District's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not to the extent needed to opine on the
effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of management's accounting policies and the reasonableness of
their significant accounting estimates, as well as our evaluation of the overall financial statement
presentation.

We believe the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to support our audit opinions.

Lausche Building, 615 Superior Ave., NW, Twelfth Floor, Cleveland, Ohio 44113-1801
Phone: 216-787-3665 or 800-626-2297
www.ohioauditor.gov
1
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the Cleveland Municipal School District, Cuyahoga County, Ohio, as of June 30, 2018,
and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the
budgetary comparison for the General fund thereof for the year then ended in accordance with the
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, during 2018, the District adopted new accounting
guidance in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits other than Pensions. We did not modify our opinion
regarding this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require this presentation to include
management’s discussion and analysis and schedules of net pension and other post-employment benefit
liabilities and pension and other post-employment benefit contributions listed in the table of contents, to
supplement the basic financial statements. Although this information is not part of the basic financial
statements, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board considers it essential for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, consisting of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management'’s
responses to our inquiries, to the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not opine or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to opine or provide any other
assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information
Our audit was conducted to opine on the District’s basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The introductory section, the financial section’s combining statements, individual fund statements and
schedules and the statistical section information present additional analysis and are not a required part of
the basic financial statements.

The statements and schedules are management’s responsibility, and derive from and relate directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. We subjected
this information to the auditing procedures we applied to the basic financial statements. We also applied
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling this information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, this information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole.
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We did not subject the introductory section and statistical section information to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion or any other
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report dated May 10, 2019, on
our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. That report
describes the scope of our internal control testing over financial reporting and compliance, and the results
of that testing, and does not opine on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Nl

Keith Faber
Auditor of State
Columbus, Ohio

May 10, 2019


JRHelle
Keith Faber


Cleveland Municipal School District
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Unaudited

The discussion and analysis of the School District’s financial performance provides an overall review of the
School District’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. The intent of this discussion and
analysis is to look at the School District’s financial performance as a whole; readers should also review the
transmittal letter, notes to the basic financial statements and financial statements to enhance their understanding
of the School District’s financial performance.

Financial Highlights
Key financial highlights for 2018 are as follows:

a Total current and other assets decreased by $99.3 million and capital assets increased by $65.2 million,
resulting in a net decrease in total assets of $34.1 million in Governmental Activities.

o The School District implemented GASB 75, which reduced beginning net position as previously reported
by $218.9 million. In addition, the School District restated the net position at the entity-wide level in the
amount of $10.2 for unreported incurred but not reported claims liability (IBNR) for self-insurance.

a Total short-term liabilities increased by $7.2 million and total long-term liabilities decreased $321.6
million, resulting in a net decrease in total liabilities of $314.4 million in Governmental Activities.

a Total net position increased $283.7 million in Governmental Activities. This decrease in pension and
OPERB liabilities significantly decreased nearly all instructional and support services expenses compared to
fiscal year 2017. See further explanation after Table 1.

0 General revenues accounted for $698.5 million in revenue or 77.9% of all revenues for Governmental
Activities. Program specific revenues in the form of charges for services, sales, grants or contributions
accounted for $198.0 million or 22.1% of total revenues of $896.5 million.

a Total program expenses were $614.6 million in Governmental Activities.

a Among major funds, the General Fund had $731.4 million in revenues and other financing sources and
$763.5 million in expenditures and other financing uses. The General Fund’s fund balance decreased by
$32.2 million.

Using this Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements and notes to those statements. These statements
are organized so the reader can understand The School District as an entire operating entity. The statements
begin at a summary level and expand to detailed financial activities.

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of the entire
School District, presenting both an aggregate view of the School District’s current finances and a longer-term
view of those finances. Fund financial statements provide the next level of detail. For governmental funds,
these statements present how services were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for future
spending. The fund financial statements also look at the School District’s most significant funds with all other
nonmajor funds presented in total in one column. The General Fund, the Debt Service Fund, the Permanent
Improvement Fund and the Classroom Facilities Fund, are the most significant governmental funds.

-4 -
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e
Reporting the School District on a Government-Wide Basis
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

While this document contains the large number of funds utilized by the School District to provide programs
and activities, the view of the School District as an entity looks at all financial transactions and asks the
question, “How did we do financially during 2018?” The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities answer this question. These statements include all assets and deferred outflows of resources and
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting similar to the accounting used
by most private-sector companies. This basis of accounting takes into consideration all of the current year’s
revenues and expenses regardless of when cash was received or paid.

These two statements report the School District’s net position and changes in those net positions. This change
in net position is important because it tells the reader whether the financial position of the School District, as a
whole, has improved or diminished. The causes of this change may be the result of many factors, some
financial, some not. Non-financial factors include the School District’s property tax base, current property tax
laws in Ohio restricting revenue growth, facility conditions, required educational programs, general inflation
and other factors.

All of the School District’s programs and services are reported as Governmental Activities in the Statement of
Net Position and the Statement of Activities. Governmental Activities consists of functions that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues. Such activities include instruction, support services,
operation and maintenance of plant, pupil transportation, operation of non-instructional services and
extracurricular activities among others for the School District.

Currently, the School District has no Business-Type Activities, which include functions that are intended to
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges.

Reporting the School District’s Most Significant Funds
Fund Financial Statements

The analysis of the School District’s major funds begins on page 22. Fund financial reports provide detailed
information about the School District’s major funds. The School District uses many funds to account for its
financial transactions. However, these fund financial statements concentrate on the School District’s most
significant funds. The School District’s major governmental funds are the General Fund, the Debt Service
Fund, the Permanent Improvement Fund and the Classroom Facilities Fund.

Governmental Funds - Most of the School District’s activities are reported in governmental funds, which
focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end available for spending
in future periods. These funds are reported using modified accrual accounting, which measures cash and all
other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a
detailed short-term view of the School District’s general government operations and the basic services it
provides. Governmental fund information helps the reader determine the amount of financial resources that
can be spent in the near future to finance educational programs. The relationship (or differences) between
governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and
governmental funds is reconciled in the financial statements.
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Proprietary Funds - Proprietary funds have historically operated as enterprise and internal service funds using
the same basis of accounting as business-type activities. The School District has no enterprise funds. The
internal service fund is used to account for and finance its uninsured risks of loss and associated expenses
attributable to deductibles and self-insured retention limits for general liability and property damage claim
settlements and judgments. Also, it used to account for and finance the School Districts self-insurance
programs for employee medical benefits.

The School District on a Government-\Wide Basis
The Statement of Net Position provides the perspective of the School District as a whole. Table 1 provides a
summary of the School District’s net position for FY 2018 compared to the FY 2017:

Table 1
Net Position
Governmental Activities
($ In Millions)
Governmental Activities
2018 2017 Restated Change

Assets
Current and Other Assets $ 7605  $ 8598 3 (99.3)
Capital Assets 892.5 827.3 65.2
Total Assets 1,653.0 1,687.1 (34.1)
Deferred Outflow & Resources
Pension & OPEB 241.6 198.4 43.2
Liabilities
Current Liabilities 110.4 103.2 7.2
Long-Term Liabilities 326.6 340.6 (14.0)
Net Pension & OPEB Liability 962.9 1,270.5 (307.6)
Total Liabilities 1,399.9 1,714.3 (314.4)
Deferred Inflow of Resources
Property Taxes 207.6 203.4 4.2
Pension & OPEB 68.2 32.6 35.6
Total Deferred Inflow & Resources 275.8 236.0 39.8
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 656.5 536.3 120.2

Restricted for Debt Service 49.7 47.6 2.1

Restricted for Capital Projects 190.7 320.5 (129.8)

Restricted for Educational Special Trust 9.1 10.2 (1.2)

Restricted for Classroom Facilities Maintenance 6.7 6.9 0.2)

Restricted for Food Services 2.6 0.8 1.8

Restricted for Miscellaneous State Grants 1.2 0.3 0.9

Restricted for Other Purposes 8.3 7.7 0.6
Unrestricted (705.9) (995.1) 289.2
Total Net Position $ 218.9 $ (64.8) $ 283.7
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The net pension liability (NPL) is one of the largest liabilities reported by the School District at June 30, 2018

and is reported pursuant to GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an
Amendment of GASB Statement 27. For fiscal year 2018, the School District adopted GASB Statement 75,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which significantly
revises accounting for costs and liabilities related to other postemployment benefits (OPEB). For reasons
discussed below, many end users of this financial statement will gain a clearer understanding of the School
District’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related to pension and OPEB, the net pension
liability and the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and subtracting deferred outflows related to
pension and OPEB.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial
reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for pensions
(GASB 27) and postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This approach limited
pension and OPEB costs to contributions annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully
fund each plan’s net pension liability or net OPEB liability. GASB 68 and GASB 75 take an earnings
approach to pension and OPEB accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide pension/OPEB plans and
state law governing those systems requires additional explanation in order to properly understand the
information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to equal the School
District’s proportionate share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive employees’
past service
2 Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment
exchange” — that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise
of a future pension and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this promise
is a present obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee, and should
accordingly be reported by the government as a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange.
However, the School District is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of these liabilities.
In Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer. Both employer and
employee contribution rates are capped by State statute. A change in these caps requires action of both Houses
of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also determined by State
statute. The Ohio revised Code permits, but does not require the retirement systems to provide healthcare to
eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer contributions to
provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited not
by contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal limit to
its contribution to the retirement system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded liability of
the pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen the moral
obligation of the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment exchange with
notice as to the law. The retirement system is responsible for the administration of the pension and OPEB
plans.
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Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick and
vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment schedule
for the net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits, contribution
rates, and return on investments affect the balance of these liabilities, but are outside the control of the local
government. In the event that contributions, investment returns, and other changes are insufficient to keep up
with required payments, State statute does not assign/identify the responsible party for the unfunded portion.
Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability are satisfied, these
liabilities are separately identified within the long-term liability section of the statement of net position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the School District’s statements prepared on an accrual basis of
accounting include an annual pension expense and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share of
each plan’s change in net pension liability and net OPEB liability, respectively, not accounted for as deferred
inflows/outflows.

As a result of implementing GASB 75, the School District is reporting a net OPEB liability and deferred
inflows/outflows of resources related to OPEB on the accrual basis of accounting. This implementation also
had the effect of restating net position at June 30, 2017, from $164.3 million to a deficit $64.8 million.

Graph 1
Net Position
Governmental Activities
($ In Millions)

$2,0001

W2018
02017

Assets Liabilities Net Position

Current and other assets decreased by $99.3 million and capital assets increased by $65.2 million, resulting in
an overall decrease in total assets of $34.1 million. The decrease in current and other assets is mostly
attributable to a combination of a decrease in intergovernmental receivable (primarily the OFCC receivable
drawdown) of $49.6 million and a net decrease in cash and investments of $54.7 million, all of which are
associated with the construction projects of ten new schools, which accounts for the increase in capital assets.

Current liabilities increased by $7.2 million and long-term liabilities decreased by $321.6 million, resulting in
an overall decrease in liabilities of $314.4 million. The increase in current liabilities is due primarily to the
salary and associated benefits, including an increase in claims liability for the self-insurance program. The net
decrease in long-term liabilities is due to the Net Pension and OPEB Liabilities decreasing by $307.6 million
along with debt retirement payments during the year.
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The significant decrease in net pension liability is largely the result of a change in benefit terms in which STRS
reduced their COLA to zero coupled by a slight reduction in COLA benefits by SERS. The significant increase
in deferred outflows and inflows related to pension/OPEB are primarily from the change of assumptions and
the difference in projected and actual investments earnings, respectively. All components of pension and
OPEB accruals contribute to the fluctuations in deferred outflows/inflows and NPL/NOL and are described in
more detail in their respective notes.
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Table 2 shows the change in net position for fiscal years 2018 and 2017.

Table 2
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities

($ In Millions)
Governmental
Activities
2018 2017 Restated Change

Revenues
General Revenues:

Property Taxes $ 2615 $ 2184 43.1

Investment Income 1.8 2.8 (1.0

Miscellaneous 11.6 14.9 (3.3)

Grants and Entitlements 423.6 4115 12.1
Program Revenues:

Charges for Services 10.5 10.3 0.2

Operating Grants 177.3 169.4 7.9

Capital Grants 10.2 3.9 6.3
Total Revenues 896.5 831.2 65.3
Program Expenses
Instruction 359.0 586.4 (227.4)
Support Services:

Pupil and Instructional Staff 38.6 73.0 (34.4)

Board of Education, Administration, Fiscal

and Business 48.1 77.3 (29.2)

Operation and Maintenance of Plant 57.7 65.5 (7.8)

Pupil Transportation 34.2 34.8 (0.6)

Central 21.1 38.2 (17.1)
Operation of Non-Instructional Services 38.2 37.3 0.9
Extracurricular Activities 5.4 5.8 (0.4
Interest and Fiscal Charges 12.3 13.5 (1.2)
Total Expenses 614.6 931.8 (317.2)
Transfers 1.8 (3.8) 5.6
Change in Net Position 283.7 (104.4) 388.1
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Graph 2
Revenue for Governmental Activities
($ In Millions)
2018 2017
General Revenues $ 6985 $ 647.6
Program Revenues 198.0 183.6
Total Revenues $ 8965 $ 8312
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General Revenues

General revenues for the School District are comprised almost entirely of property tax collections and grants
from various sources. Property taxes made up 37.4% and 33.7% and grants made up 60.7% and 63.5 % of
general revenues for governmental activities for the School District in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The unusual nature of property tax legislation in the State of Ohio creates the need to routinely seek voter
approval for increases in operating funds to maintain a constant level of service. As a result of legislation
enacted in 1976, the overall revenue generated by a voted millage does not increase as a result of inflation. As
an example, a homeowner with a home valued at $100,000 (assessed value of $35,000) and taxed at 1.0 mill
would pay $35.00 annually in taxes. If three years later the home was reappraised and increased to $200,000
(assessed value of $70,000) the effective tax rate would become .5 mill and the owner would still pay $35.00.
Because of this taxation methodology, real property tax assessments due to the School District have held steady
for the past several years. Collection rates have declined and there has been some increase in delinquencies in
the past several years due to the slowing economy and slightly higher unemployment rates for the City of
Cleveland.

The voters of the City of Cleveland approved a new property tax levy in May 2001 (Issue 14). This levy was
approved to support the payment of the debt service for bonds issued for the school facility
construction/renovation program and to support the ongoing maintenance of those facilities. Collections
cannot be used to support the general operations of the School District. The collection on that levy began in
January 2002.

The voters of the City of Cleveland approved a new property tax levy in November 2012 (Issue 106), the first
operating levy since 1996. This four year levy was approved to support The Cleveland Plan (H.B. 525) that
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was signed into law in July 2012. Fourteen mills will be allocated to the current expenses of the School District
and one mill will be allocated to the current expenses of partnering community school. The collection on that
levy began in January 2013. This tax levy was renewed by the voters in November 2016.

The voters of the City of Cleveland approved a new property tax levy in November 2014 (Issue 4). This levy
allowed for an additional property tax to provide funds for the acquisition, construction, enlargement,
renovation, and financing of general permanent improvements at a rate not exceeding 0.5 mil for each one
dollar of tax valuation. Collections cannot be used to support the general operations of the School District.

The primary source of grant revenue is State general operating aid known as the “Foundation Program Aid”.
Established by Ohio law and funded by biennial appropriations, the Foundation Program is a statutory program
through which the State currently makes direct payments to school districts based upon a statutory formula.
Monies distributed to a school district under the existing Foundation Program are required to be used for
current operating expenses, unless specifically allocated by the State for some other purpose.

Program Revenues

Operating and capital grants comprise 94.7% of total program revenues of the School District. These grants,
obtained mainly from the Federal Government, State of Ohio and the Ohio School Facilities Commission,
support specific educational programs and objectives as defined by these agencies as well as the capital
programs. The amount available to the School District may vary from year to year depending on amounts made
available by these agencies and the needs of the School District.

Table 3
Total and Net Cost of Program Services
Governmental Activities

($ In Millions)
Total Cost of Net Cost of  Total Cost of Net Cost of
Services Services Services Services
2018 2018 2017 Restated 2017 Restated
Instruction $ 3590 $ (269.7) $ 586.4 $  (496.4)
Support Services:
Pupil and Instructional Staff 38.6 (8.1) 73.0 (40.8)
Board of Education, Administration,

Fiscal and Business 48.1 (37.5) 77.3 (66.7)
Operation and Maintenance of Plant 57.7 (49.4) 65.5 (58.6)
Pupil Transportation 34.2 (28.9) 34.8 (31.9)
Central 21.1 (17.9) 38.2 (34.9)

Operation of Non-Instructional Services 38.2 1.0 37.3 (2.8)
Extracurricular Activities 54 (4.0) 5.8 (4.6)
Interest and Fiscal Charges 12.3 (12.3) 135 (13.5)
Capital Outlay 0.0 10.2 0.0 1.9
Total Expenses $ 6146 $ (4166) $ 9318 $ (748.3)
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The Statement of Activities shows the cost of program services and the charges for services and grants
offsetting those services. Table 3 above shows, for governmental activities, (services supported by tax revenue
and unrestricted State entitlements), the total cost of services and the net cost of services.

The largest Governmental Activities program expense remains instruction, comprising 58.4% of the total cost
of services. When combined with pupil and instructional support these categories make up 64.7% of the total
cost of services. This make-up is consistent with the general educational objectives of the School District.

The information necessary to restate the 2017 beginning balances and the 2017 OPEB expense amounts for the
effects of the initial implementation of GASB 75 is not available. Therefore, 2017 functional expenses still
include OPEB expense of $791,147 computed under GASB 45. GASB 45 required recognizing pension
expense equal to the contractually required contributions to the plan. Under GASB 75, OPEB expense
represents additional amounts earned, adjusted by deferred inflows/outflows. The contractually required
contribution is no longer a component of OPEB expense. Under GASB 75, the 2018 statements report negative
OPEB expense of $23,948,038. Consequently, in order to compare 2018 total program expenses to 2017, the
following adjustments are needed:

Total 2018 Program Expenses under GASB 75 $ 614,641,327
Negative OPEB Expense under GASB 75 23,948,038
2018 Contractually Required Contribution 1,282,343

Adjusted 2018 Program Expenses 639,871,708

Total 2017 Program Expenses under GASB 45 921,651,863

Decrease in Program Expenses not Related to OPEB  $ (281,780,155)

The School District’s Funds

Information about the School District’s major funds starts on page 22. These funds are accounted for using the
modified accrual basis of accounting. All governmental funds had total revenues and other financing sources
of $961.4 million and expenditures and other financing uses of $1,010.4 million, resulting in a net decrease in
fund balances of $49.0 million.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the School District. At the end of the current fiscal year, the
General fund balance was $59.7 million, the decrease of $32.2 was due to higher expenditures for salaries and
benefits.

The net changes in fund balances for the year in the Debt Service Fund, Permanent Improvement Fund,
Classroom Facilities Fund and Other Governmental Funds. The fund balance in the Debt Service Fund
increased $4.4 million, the fund balance in the Permanent Improvement Fund decreased $32.9 and the fund
balance in the Classroom Facilities Fund increased $9.6. The increase in the Debt Service fund was due to the
tax collection rates remaining stable from the previous year. The decrease in the Permanent Improvement
Fund was due to the School District renovating two schools during the school year that opened in Fiscal Year
2019. The increase in the Classroom Facilities Fund was the result of the District beginning to receive the
state’s reimbursements from their share of the projects in Segment 7. Funding of this program is described in
more detail in the Capital Assets and Debt Administration section. The fund balance for Other Governmental
Funds increased by $2.1 million. The increase is also mainly due to the tax collection rates remaining stable
from the previous year.
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e —
General Fund Budgeting Highlights

The School District’s budget is prepared according to Ohio law and is based on accounting for transactions on
a cash basis for receipts, disbursements and encumbrances. The General Fund is the most significant fund to
be budgeted and is the main operating fund of the School District.

For the General Fund total actual revenues and other financing sources were $731.7 million, which was $12.8
million more than the final budget estimate. The School District received more than what was expected in
property tax and intergovernmental revenue during the fiscal year.

The final expenditure and other financing uses budget was $787.7 million. Total actual expenditures and other
financing uses was $784.8 million, or $3 million below the final budget estimates. There is a continuing effort
by the School District’s management to reduce its expenditures to increase fund balance.

The General Fund’s ending unencumbered cash balance totaled $66.6 million, which was $15.8 million more
than the final budgeted amount.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets

At the end of fiscal year 2018 the School District had $892.5 million invested in capital assets net of
accumulated depreciation. Table 4 shows fiscal year 2018 balances compared to 2017:

Table 4
Capital Assets
(Net of Depreciation)
($ In Millions)
Governmental Activities
2018 2017 Change
Land $ 318 % 318 $ 0.0
Land Improvements 0.1 0.1 0.0
Buildings and Improvements 761.5 731.6 29.9
Vehicles and Equipment 134 14.3 0.9)
Intangible Assets 0.2 0.6 (0.4
Construction in Progress 85.5 48.9 36.6
Totals $ 8925 § 8273  $ 65.2

All capital assets, except for land and construction in progress, are reported net of depreciation.

In 2000, a Facilities Assessment Commission was established to review the condition of the School District’s
facilities. The Commission recommended that a complete renovation program of all School District facilities be
undertaken and that a substantial contribution from the State of Ohio (through the Ohio School Facilities
Commission) could be included in the proposed construction and renovation plan by participation in the
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Classroom Facilities Assistance Program (CFAP). Since then, the School District and the Ohio School
Facilities Commission have created a Master Facilities Plan, which was revised in 2008 and then again in
2014, that addresses the needs of all buildings in the School District and the unique needs of the School
District and its students. The Revised Master Facilities Plan has been approved by the School District’s Board,
the Ohio School Facilities Commission and the State Controlling Board. The Revised Master Facilities Plan
calls for building an additional 22 schools and refurbishing 20 to 23 others. Projects were contingent on voters
approving a November 2014 ballot issue that authorized $200 million in bonds for the construction and a half-
mill property tax for maintenance, which was passed. The State will add more than $2 for every $1 that the
District contributes to construction. Since 2000, the School District has built 38 schools and fully renovated
seven others. One high school, Campus International, finished construction during the fiscal year and went
into operation in fiscal year 2018.

Construction began in 2002 utilizing funding from several sources as described below under Debt
Administration. Initial work focused mainly on making every facility warm, safe and dry. Concurrently, new
facilities have been constructed and others significantly renovated and others inactivated for student use. See
Note 12 to the basic financial statements for additional information on capital assets.

Debt Administration

At June 30, 2018 the School District had $282.9 million in bonds, notes and other long term capital lease
obligations outstanding, $8.5 million due within one year. Table 5 summarizes bonds and notes outstanding.

Table 5
Outstanding Debt, at Year End
($ In Millions)
Governmental Governmental
Activities Activities
2018 2017

General Obligation Bonds and Notes:
2010 School Facilities Improvement Bonds 55.0 55.0
2012 School Facilities Improvement Bonds 12.4 14.2
2013 School Facilities Improvement Bonds 27.4 27.4
2015 School Facilities Improvement Bonds 132.3 136.1
2015 Qualified School Constuction Bonds 49.2 49.2
Other Long-Term Obligations:
Capital Lease Obligation 6.6 9.2
Total $ 282.9 $ 291.1
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Graph 3
Debt and Debt Limit
($ In Millions)
2018 2017
Total Debt $ 2829 $ 2911
Total Debt Limit $ 4308 $ 4219

Debt and Debt Limit At June 30
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In order to undertake the initial stages of planning and to perform some required work on its facilities to make
them *“warm, safe and dry,” the School District utilized several borrowing/funding sources. One source totaling
$21.3 million, the Qualified Zone Academy Bonds (QZAB), was put in place just before the beginning of the
2002 fiscal year. These bonds were used to support facility renovations at seven specific school sites. Another
source, the $11.5 million H.B. 264 Energy Conservation Notes was used to renovate the environmental
controls at school facilities across the School District. In November 2001, the School District issued $35
million School Facility Bond Anticipation Notes. These Notes represented the first installment of the $335
million of facility construction/renovation borrowing approved by voters in May 2001.

In October 2002, the School District replaced the short-term School Facility Bond Anticipation Notes with
long-term School Facility Bonds. An additional $40 million of new proceeds was borrowed at that time,
representing the second installment of the $335 million approved borrowing capacity. In July 2004, the School
District issued $125 million of School Improvement Bonds, the third installment. In December 2005, the
School District issued $30 million of School Facility Bond Anticipation Notes, representing the fourth
installment of the $335 million approved borrowing capacity. In March 2007, the School District issued $30
million of School Facility Bond Anticipation Notes, representing the fifth installment of the $335 million
approved borrowing capacity. In December 2007, the School District issued an additional $5 million of new
proceeds representing the sixth installment of the $335 million approved borrowing capacity. In December
2008, the School District issued $15 million of School Improvement Bond Anticipation Notes representing the
seventh installment of the $335 million approved borrowing capacity. In September 2010, the School District
issued $55 million of School Improvement Bond Anticipation notes representing the eighth and final
installment of the $335 million approved borrowing capacity.

In June 2015 the School District issued bonds for the purpose of constructing, renovating, remodeling,
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enlarging, furnishing, equipping and otherwise improving school district buildings and facilities and acquiring,
clearing, equipping and otherwise improving school district building and facility sites in the principal amount
of $200 million to be repaid annually over 35 years, and levy a property tax outside the ten-mill limitation,
estimated by the county fiscal officer to average over the bond repayment period 2 mills for each one dollar of
tax valuation, which amounts to 20 cents for each one hundred dollars of tax valuation, to pay the annual debt
charges on the bonds, and to pay debt charges on any notes issued in anticipation of those bonds.

Due to the School District’s participation in the Credit Enhancement Program, Fitch, Moody’s and S&P have
assigned programmatic ratings of “AA”, “Aa2”, and “AA”, respectively, to the School District’s bonds.

The School District applied for underlying ratings from Fitch, S&P and Moody’s. As a result of the
application process, Fitch assigned an underlying rating of “A-* to the bonds, Moody’s assigned an underlying
rating of “A2” to the bonds, and S&P assigned an underlying rating of “BBB+” to the bonds. The School
District’s underlying ratings and the ratings with regard to the School District’s participation in the Credit
Enhancement Program have been published by the respective rating services.

At June 30, 2018, the School District’s overall legal debt margin was $179.7 million, with an unvoted debt
margin of $4.8 million. See Note 18 to the basic financial statements for additional information on all long-
term obligations.

Current Issues

In November 2012, the voters of the city of Cleveland approved a four year 15 mill operating levy, which was
renewed in November 2016. With the passing of the four year levy, the School District is projecting a positive
unencumbered cash balance through fiscal year 2019. In addition, there are other ongoing issues to be
addressed over the next five years as described below.

State Foundation Payments — Am. Sub. H.B. 94 of the 131th Ohio General Assembly passed in July 2015 and
replaced the prior fiscal year 2014 — fiscal year 2015 biennium budget’s enacted by Governor Kasich’s
administration. The H.B. 94 state foundation formula is for fiscal years 2017 and 2018. Payments to city,
local and exempted village school districts are calculated from data reported by the district, such as the number
of students enrolled in the district, and are made twice each month according to a schedule published each
spring. Since the data are updated throughout the year, the annual amount due to the School District is
calculated for each payment and the district receives approximately 1/24" of the annual amount.

Commercial Activity Tax — HB 66 makes provisions to replace some revenue lost due to the phase out of the
Tangible Personal Property Tax. Businesses are now subject to a Commercial Activity Tax (CAT) that will
provide some replacement income to school districts for lost tangible property revenues.

Homestead Exemption — The recent budget bill (HB 119) included significant property tax reductions for
senior citizens. The Homestead Exemption will allow senior citizen homeowners and permanently/totally
disabled homeowners, regardless of income, to withhold $25,000 of market value of their owner occupied
home from property taxes. In 2015, individuals who turned 65 in 2014 or who become disabled after January
1, 2013, were be required to have Ohio Qualifying income ($31,000 or less) in order to receive Homestead
Exemption based upon age or disability.
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Financial Forecast — The School District is required to adopt a five-year financial forecast of revenues and
expenditures each year. A deficit was projected in fiscal years 2020 and beyond. The forecast includes several
revenue and expense assumptions based upon recent legislation, historical trends, and future assumptions.

Contacting the School District’s Financial Management

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, and investors and creditors with a general
overview of the School District’s finances and to show the School District’s accountability for the money it
receives. If you have gquestions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Mr. Michael
Bowen, Executive Director of Accounting at Cleveland Municipal School District, 1111 Superior Avenue
East, Cleveland, Ohio 44114 or by email Michael.Bowen@clevelandmetroschools.org.
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Net Position-Governmental Activities
June 30, 2018

Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivaents
Cash and Cash Equivalents with Fiscal Agents
Investments
Investments with Fiscal Agents
Receivables:

Taxes

Accounts

Intergovernmental

Accrued Interest
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension
OPEB

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Accrued Wages and Benefits
Retainage Payable
Intergovernmental Payable
Matured Compensated Absences Payable
Accrued Interest Payable
Claims Payable
Long-Term Obligations:
Due Within One Y ear
Duein More Than One Y ear:
Net Pension Liability
Net OPEB Liability
Other Amounts Due in More Than One Year

Total Liabilities

Deferred I nflows of Resources
Property Taxes

Pension

OPEB

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Restricted for Debt Service
Restricted for Capital Programs
Restricted for Educational Special Trust
Restricted for Classroom Facilities Maintenance
Restricted for Food Services
Restricted for Miscellaneous State Grants
Restricted for Other Purposes
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

See accompanying notes to the basic financia statements

Tota

$ 221,152,187
3,244,438
89,973,661
25,124,177

326,845,255
3,992,819
86,934,883
827,818
2,422,548
117,314,431
775,157,071

1,652, 989,288

233,268,228
8,294,693

241,562,921

25,714,994
41,757,206
3,244,438
23,336,476
664,280
1,097,090
14,534,630

16,410,412
781,107,522
181,752,561
310,233,133

1,399,852, 742

207,644,490
47,974,383
20,174,664

275,793,537

656,511,658

49,731,602
190,674,105
9,070,842
6,679,094
2,563,347
1,245,582
8,368,512
(705,938,812)

$ 218,905,930
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Activities-Governmental Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Total
Program Revenues Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Charges for Operating Grants Capital Grants Changesin
Functions/Programs Expenses Services and Sales _and Contributions _and Contributions Net Position
Instruction:
Regular $ 228,117,128 $ 4,329,229 $ 27,441,716 $ 0 $ (196,346,183)
Special 115,095,669 1,959,579 41,196,919 0 (71,939,171)
Vocational 3,097,548 45,108 1,007,776 0 (2,044,664)
Other 12,731,008 1,79 13,333,289 0 604,077
Support Services:
Pupils 12,249,740 87,714 8,703,757 0 (3,458,269)
Instructional Staff 26,331,387 75,204 21,604,022 0 (4,652,161)
Board of Education 42,376 794 5,390 0 (36,192)
Administration 33,734,900 939,990 8,027,591 0 (24,767,319)
Fiscal 13,054,274 152,201 1,308,043 0 (11,594,030)
Business 1,251,274 23,437 159,146 0 (1,068,691)
Operation and Maintenance of Plant 57,685,305 1,175,092 7,125,013 0 (49,385, 200)
Pupil Transportation 34,220,642 611,474 4,679,883 0 (28,929,285)
Central 21,149,084 392,949 2,844,995 0 (17,911,140)
Operation of Non-Instructional Services 38,187,653 249,544 38,894,323 0 956,214
Extracurricular Activities 5,402,338 482,208 942,887 0 (3,977,243)
Interest and Fiscal Charges 12,291,003 0 0 0 (12,291,003)
Capital Outlay 0 0 0 10,225,792 10,225,792
Totals $ 614,641,329 $ 10,526,319 $ 177,274,750 $ 10,225,792 $ (416,614,468)
General Revenues
Property Taxes Levied For:
General Purposes 235,113,848
Debt Service 21,471,349
Capital Outlay 2,359,011
Capita Projects 2,525,832
Investment Income 1,778,432
Miscellaneous 11,594,746
Grants and Entitlements not Restricted to Specific Programs 423,617,304
Total General Revenues 698,460,522
Transfers 1,827,066
Change in Net Position 283,673,120
Net Position Beginning of Year Restated ___ (64,767,190)
Net Position End of Year $ 218,905,930

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

Other Total
Debt Permanent Classroom Governmental Governmental
General Service Improvement Facilities Funds Funds

Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 70,342,313 $ 16,450,752 $ 24,844,881 $ 72,854,219 $ 22,705164 $ 207,197,329
Cash and Cash Equivalents with Fiscal Agents 0 0 665,995 2,578,443 0 3,244,438
Investments 0 0 75,267,707 14,705,954 0 89,973,661
Investments with Fiscal Agents 0 25,124,177 0 0 0 25,124,177
Receivables:

Taxes 288,771,199 27,554,968 2,732,844 0 7,786,244 326,845,255

Accounts 1,241,468 0 0 0 2,751,351 3,992,819

Intergovernmental 8,416,908 0 0 61,058,049 17,459,926 86,934,883

Accrued Interest 416,184 88,364 252,617 70,653 0 827,818

Interfund 13,885,051 0 0 0 0 13,885,051
Materials and Supplies Inventory 903,052 0 0 0 1,519,496 2,422 548
Total Assets 383,976,175 69,218,261 103,764,044 151,267,318 52,222,181 760,447,979
Liabilities
Accounts Payable 8,086,595 0 715,993 13,217,288 3,695,118 25,714,994
Accrued Wages and Benefits 34,707,303 0 0 0 7,049,903 41,757,206
Retainage Payable 0 0 665,995 2,578,443 0 3,244,438
Interfund Payable 0 0 0 0 13,885,051 13,885,051
Intergovernmental Payable 20,368,170 0 0 0 2,968,306 23,336,476
Matured Compensated Absences Payable 664,280 0 0 0 0 664,280
Total Liabilities 63,826,348 0 1,381,988 15,795,731 27,598,378 108,602,445
Deferred Inflow of Resources

Property Taxes 260,499,036 24,653,250 2,068,948 0 5,794,556 293,015,790

Unavailable Revenue 0 0 0 61,058,049 3,764,126 64,822,175
Total Deferred Inflow of Resources 260,499,036 24,653,250 2,068,948 61,058,049 9,558,682 357,837,965
Fund Balance:

Nonspendable 903,052 0 0 0 1,519,496 2,422,548

Restricted 0 44,565,011 100,313,108 74,413,538 22,239,391 241,531,048

Assigned 58,747,739 0 0 0 0 58,747,739

Unassigned 0 0 0 0 (8,693, 766) (8,693, 766)
Total Fund Balances 59,650,791 44,565,011 100,313,108 74,413,538 15,065,121 294,007,569
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances $ 383976175 _$ 69218261 _$ 103,764,044 $ 151,267,318 _$ 52222181 _$ 760,447,979

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to
Net Position of Governmental Activities
June 30, 2018

Total Governmental Funds Balances $ 294,007,569

Amounts reported for governmental activitiesin the
statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds 892,471,502

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-
period expenditures and therefore are reported as
unavailable revenue in the funds:

Delinquent Property Taxes 85,371,300
Grants 64,822,175
Total 150,193,475

Aninternal service fund is used by management to charge
the costs of insurance to individual funds. The assets and
liabilities of the internal service fund are included in
governmental activities in the statement of net position. (579,771)

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding
bonds, whereas in governmental funds, an interest expenditure
is reported when due. (1,097,090)

The net pension and OPEB liabilities are not due and payable in the current period;
therefore, the liabilities and related deferred inflows/outflows are not
reported in governmental funds

Deferred outflows - pension 233,268,228
Deferred outflows - OPEB 8,294,693
Deferred inflows - pension (47,974,383)
Deferred inflows - OPEB (20,174,664)
Net Pension Liability (781,107,522)
Net OPEB Liabhility (181,752,561)
Total (789,446,209)

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the funds:

Genera Obligation Bonds (276,260,000)

Compensated Absences (39,838,648)

Worker's Compensation Claims (3,901,874)

Capital Lease Obligations (6,643,024)

Total (326,643,546)
Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 218,905,930

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Revenues:
Taxes
Investment Income
Tuition and Fees
Extracurricular Activities
Contributions and Donations
Food Services
Miscellaneous
Intergovernmental

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Instruction:
Regular
Special
Vocational
Other
Support Services:
Pupils
Instructional Staff
Board of Education
Administration
Fiscal
Business
Operation and Maintenance of Plant
Pupil Transportation
Central
Operation of Non-Instructional Services
Extracurricular Activities
Capital Outlay
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Total Expenditures

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceds from Sale of Capital Assets
Transfers In

Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances at Beginning of Year

Fund Balances at End of Year

Other Total
Debt Permanent Classroom Governmental Governmental

General Service Improvement Facilities Funds Funds
$ 231,618,865 $ 21,492,843 $ 2,524,794 $ 0 $ 6,859,039 $ 262,495,541
1,442,772 (67,142) 1,668,658 (207,239) 38,013 2,875,062
8,255,258 0 0 0 0 8,255,258
3,430 0 0 0 560,733 564,163
0 0 0 0 7,320,278 7,320,278
0 0 0 0 218,225 218,225
11,582,853 0 0 0 752,310 12,335,163
474,657,180 2,465,170 71,447 71,019,938 114,723,879 662,937,614
727,560,358 23,890,871 4,264,899 70,812,699 130,472,477 957,001,304
335,992,013 0 0 0 3,495,707 339,487,720
161,745,407 0 0 0 29,473,169 191,218,576
6,638,512 0 0 0 689,348 7,327,860
233,919 0 0 0 12,638,230 12,872,149
36,540,593 0 0 0 7,558,593 44,099,186
8,206,033 0 0 0 22,542,238 30,748,271
256,007 0 0 0 0 256,007
58,405,815 0 0 0 4,768,300 63,174,115
10,417,944 545,551 54,565 0 4,328,458 15,346,518
1,629,759 0 0 0 0 1,629,759
69,355,623 0 188,885 0 4,872,684 74,417,192
37,002,358 0 0 0 519,199 37,521,557
28,135,140 0 0 0 167,465 28,302,605
1,792,898 0 0 0 36,589,829 38,382,727
5,190,849 0 0 0 739,830 5,930,679
0 0 37,496,023 61,243,321 0 98,739,344
0 5,585,000 0 0 0 5,585,000
0 13,404,512 0 0 0 13,404,512
761,542 870 19,535,063 37,739,473 61,243,321 128,383,050 1,008,443.777
(33,982,512) 4,355,808 (33,474,574) 9,569,378 2,089,427 (51,442 .473)
5,411 0 599,650 0 0 605,061
3,799,964 0 0 0 0 3,799,964
(1,972,898) 0 0 0 0 (1,972,898)
1,832,477 0 599,650 0 0 2,432,127
(32,150,035) 4,355,808 (32,874,924) 9,569,378 2,089,427 (49,010, 346)
91,800,826 40,209,203 133,188,032 64,844,160 12,975,694 343,017,915
$ 59,650,791 $ 44,565,011 $ 100,313,108 $ 74,413 538 $ 15065121 $ 294,007,569

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Reconciliation of the Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ (49,010,346)

Amounts reported for governmental activitiesin the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by
which capital outlay exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Capital Assets Additions 94,897,782
Disposal of Capital Assets (1,347,550)
Current Year Depreciation (28,418,281)
Total 65,131,951

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported in the funds. These revenues were attributed to property taxes
and intergovernmental receivables

Property Taxes (1,025,501)
Ohio School Facilities Grant (60,794,146)
Other Grants 2,397,405

Total (59,422,242)

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. 5,585,000

Repayment of capital lease is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. 2,580,991

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds and bond
premiums are amortized over the terms of the bonds, whereas in the governmental
funds the expenditure is reported when the bonds are issued:
Accrued Interest on Bonds 16,419
Total 16,419

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures
in governmental funds:

Compensated Absences 4,015,611
Worker's Compensation Claims 1,798,527
Total 5,814,138

Contractually required contributions are reported as expenditures in governmental
funds; however the statement of net position reports these amounts as deferred outflows:

Pension 54,713,035
OPEB 1,282,343
55,995,378
Except for amount reported as deferred inflows/outflows, changes in the net position
and OPEB liabilities are reported as pension and OPEB expense in the statement
of activities:
Pension 235,273,337
OPEB 23,948,038
259,221,375
The internal service funds used by management to charge the the costs of insurance
to individual funds are not reported in the District-wide statement of activities.
Governmental fund expenditures and the related interna service fund revenues
are eliminated. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service fund is allocated
among the governmental activities. (2,239,544)
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 283673120

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

In Fund Balance - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual

Revenues:
Taxes
Investment Income
Tuition and Fees
Extracurricular Activities
Contributions and Donations
Miscellaneous
Sale of Personal Property
I ntergovernmental

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Instruction:
Regular
Special
Vocational
Adult/Continuing
Other
Support Services:
Pupils
Instructional Staff
Board of Education
Administration
Fisca
Business
Operation and Maintenance of Plant
Pupil Transportation
Centrad
Operation of Non-Instructional Services
Extracurricular Activities
Capital Outlay
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Total Expenditures

Deficiency of Revenues Under Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Advances In

Advances Out

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balances
Fund Balances at Beginning of Y ear
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated

Fund Balances at End of Year

General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Variance With
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actua (Negative)

$ 230,608,418 $ 230,039,872 $ 234,157,376 $ 4,117,504
2,333,799 2,328,045 2,369,715 41,670
8,178,923 8,158,759 8,304,793 146,034
3,378 3,370 3,430 60

0 0 0 0
11,074,134 11,046,832 11,244,560 197,728
5,329 5,316 5,411 95
463,329,209 462,186,909 470,459,633 8,272,724
715,533,190 713,769,103 726,544,918 12,775,815
337,040,484 342,307,783 341,689,141 618,642
161,743,822 163,632,540 161,607,945 2,024,595
6,742,061 6,900,544 6,873,220 27,324

0 0 0 0

277,618 284,144 276,937 7,207
36,733,671 37,597,157 36,842,491 754,666
8,439,279 9,295,952 9,319,900 (23,948)
244,680 250,432 249,479 953
59,365,656 61,507,628 61,676,382 (168,754)
10,610,805 10,860,229 10,816,861 43,368
1,663,735 1,943,837 1,948,559 (4,722)
65,778,989 68,334,855 68,521,552 (186,697)
37,428,914 38,308,742 38,309,264 (522
33,573,773 36,192,818 36,288,109 (95,291)
615,024 635,057 636,803 (1,746)
5,482,259 5,689,052 5,704,612 (15,560)

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0
765,740,770 783,740,770 780,761,255 2,979,515
(50,207,580) (69,971,667) (54,216,337) 15,755,330
5,111,000 5,111,000 5,111,000 0
(4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) 0
1,111,000 1,111,000 1,111,000 0
(49,096, 580) (68,860,667) (53,105,337) 15,755,330
99,411,830 99,411,830 99,411,830 0
20,340,770 20,340,770 20,340,770 0
$ 70,656,020 $ 50,891,933 $ 66,647,263 $ 15,755,330

See accompanying notes to the basic financia statements
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Fund Net Position

Assets:
Current Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents

Liabilities:
Current Liabilities:
Claims Payable

Net Position:
Unrestricted

See accompanying notes to the basic financia statements

Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2018
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Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service Fund

$ 13,954,859

14,534,630

$ (579,771)



Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses

Total Operating Expenses

Operating I ncome (L oss)

Change in Net Position

Net Position Beginning of Year (Restated)
Net Position End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financia statements

Proprietary Fund

- 28 -

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service Fund

$ 98,240,895

98,240,895

100,480,439

100,480,439

(2,239,544)
(2,239,544)

1,659,773

—_—

$ (579,771)



Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Increase In Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash Received from Interfund Services Provided

Cash Payments for Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

Reconciliation of Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Operating Income (Loss)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net
Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Increase in Claims Payable

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

-29-

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service Fund

$ 98,240,895
(98,135,980)

104,915
104,915

13,849,944

$ 13,954,859

$  (2,239,544)

2,344,459

—_—

104,915

$



Cleveland Municipal School District
Satement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities

Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents

Liabilities
Due to Students

Total Liabilities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Agency Funds
June 30, 2018
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

0
Note 1 - Description of the School District and Reporting Entity
A. School District and Board of Education

The Board of Education of the School District (the “Board”) is a political and corporate body charged
with the responsibility of managing and controlling the affairs of the School District, and is governed by
the general laws of the State of Ohio (the “Ohio Revised Code™). The Board is comprised of nine
members who were appointed by the Mayor of the City of Cleveland. On November 5, 2002, the voters
of Cleveland elected to maintain the current government structure, which gives the Mayor the authority to
continue appointing board members.

B. Financial Reporting Entity

A reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units and other organizations that
are included to insure that the financial statements are not misleading. The primary government of the
School District consists of all funds, departments, boards and agencies that are not legally separate from
the School District. For the School District, this includes general operations, food service, capital projects
and student related activities of the School District.

Within the School District boundaries, there are also various non-public schools. Current State legislation
provides funding to these non-public schools. These monies are received and disbursed on behalf of the
non-public school by the Chief Financial Officer of the School District, as directed by the non-public
school. The activity of these State monies by the School District is reflected in a special revenue fund for
financial reporting purposes.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the School District is financially
accountable. The School District is financially accountable for an organization if the School District
appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing board and (1) the School District is able to
significantly influence the programs or services performed or provided by the organization; or (2) the
School District is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization’s resources; the School
District is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance the deficits of, or
provide financial support to, the organization; or the School District is obligated for the debt of the
organization. Component units may also include organizations that are fiscally dependent on the School
District in that the School District approves the budget, the issuance of debt or the levying of taxes. The
School District has no component units.

The Cleveland Public Library and the City of Cleveland have been defined as related organizations and
the Ohio Schools Council and the Bond Accountability Commission as jointly governed organizations.
These organizations are discussed further in Note 20 and Note 21 to the basic financial statements.

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the Cleveland Municipal School District have been prepared in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to local governmental units. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The most significant of the
School District’s accounting policies are described below.
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Cleveland Municipal School District
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

|
A. Basis of Presentation

The School District’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a
statement of net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more
detailed level of financial information.

Government-wide Financial Statements The statement of net position and the statement of activities
display information about the School District as a whole. These statements include the financial activities
of the primary government, except for fiduciary funds. The activity of the internal service fund is
eliminated to avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental activities of the School
District at fiscal year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and
program revenues for each program or function of the School District’s governmental activities. Direct
expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program or department and therefore
clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the
goods or services offered by the program, grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned on grants that is required to
be used to support a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as program revenues are
presented as general revenues of the School District, with limited exceptions. The comparison of direct
expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental activity program is
self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the School District.

Fund Financial Statements During the year, the School District segregates transactions related to certain
School District functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to
demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of
the School District at this more detailed level. The focus of governmental fund financial statements is on
major funds. Each major fund is presented in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and
presented in a single column. The internal service funds are presented in a single column on the face of
the proprietary fund statements. Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

B. Fund Accounting

The School District uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. Fund accounting is
designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid management by segregating transactions related to
certain School District functions or activities. A fund is defined as a fiscal and accounting entity with a
self-balancing set of accounts. The various funds of the School District are grouped into the categories of
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary.

Governmental Funds Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions
typically are financed. Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current
financial resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the
purposes for which they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which
they will be paid. The difference between governmental fund assets and liabilities is reported as fund
balance. The following are the School District's major governmental funds:

General Fund The general fund is used to account for all financial resources, except those
required to be accounted for in another fund. The general fund is available to the School District
for any purpose provided it is expended or transferred according to the general laws of Ohio.
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Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Debt Service Fund The debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources
for, and the payment of, general long-term debt principal, interest and related costs.

Permanent Improvement Fund The permanent improvement fund is used to account for all
transactions related to the acquiring, constructing, or improving of such permanent
improvements.

Classroom Facilities Fund The classroom facilities fund is used to account for monies received
and expended in connection with contracts entered into by the School District for the construction
or renovation to classroom facilities.

The other governmental funds of the School District account for grants and other resources whose use is
restricted to a particular purpose.

Proprietary Fund Type Proprietary funds focus on the determination of operating income, changes in net
position, financial position and cash flows and are classified as either enterprise or internal service. The
School District only has internal service funds.

Internal Service Funds The internal service funds account for the financing of services provided
by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the School District on a cost-
reimbursement basis. The internal service fund is used to account for and finance its uninsured
risks of loss and associated expenses attributable to deductibles and self-insured retention limits for
general liability and property damage claim settlements and judgments and self-insurance programs
for employee medical benefits.

Fiduciary Funds Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The
fiduciary fund category is split into four classifications: pension trust funds, investment trust funds,
private-purpose trust and agency funds. Trust funds are used to account for assets held by the School
District under a trust agreement for individuals, private organizations, or other governments and are
therefore not available to support the School District’s own programs. The School District has no trust
funds. Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of
results of operations. The School District has two agency funds, one which accounts for student activities
and one which accounts for various payroll withholding items.

C. Measurement Focus

Government-wide Financial Statements The government-wide financial statements are prepared using
the economic resources measurement focus. All assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of
the School District are included on the statement of net position. The statement of activities presents
increases (i.e. revenues) and decreases (i.e. expenses) in total net position.

Fund Financial Statements All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities
generally are included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balances reports on the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures
and other financing uses) of current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which
the governmental activities of the government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental
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fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the
relationship between the government-wide statements and the statements for governmental funds.

Like the government-wide statements, the internal service funds are accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. All assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of this fund are
included on the statement of net position. The statement of changes in fund net position presents
increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows
provides information about how the School District finances and meets the cash flow needs of its internal
service fund activities.

D. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on
the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary
funds also use the accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual basis
of accounting arise in the recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred inflows of resources, and in
the presentation of expenses versus expenditures.

Revenues - Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions Revenue resulting from exchange transactions,
in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the
exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which the
resources are measurable and become available. Awvailable means that the resources will be collected
within the current fiscal year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay
liabilities of the current fiscal year. For the School District, available means expected to be received
within sixty days of the fiscal year-end.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the School District receives value without directly giving equal value
in return, include property taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from
property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied (See Note 8). Revenue from
grants, entitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements
have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when
the resources are required to be used or the fiscal year when use is first permitted, matching requirements,
in which the School District must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose, and
expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the School District on a reimbursement
basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue from nonexchange transactions must also be available before
it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at fiscal year-end: advance on property taxes, investment income, the State’s share of the
classroom facility project, tuition, grants and student fees.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources In addition to assets, the statements of financial position will
sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources
represent a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an
outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the School District, deferred outflows of
resources are reported on the government-wide statement of net position for deferred charges on
refunding and for pension and OPEB related liabilities. A deferred charge on refunding results from the
difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. The amount is deferred and
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amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. The deferred outflows or
resources related to pension are explained in Note 14.

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows
of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and will not be recognized until that time. For the School District, deferred inflows of resources
included property taxes, pension, and unavailable revenue. Property Taxes represent amounts for which
there is an enforceable legal claim as of June 30, 2018, but which were levied to finance fiscal year 2019
operations. These amounts have been recorded as a deferred inflow on both the government-wide
statement of net position and governmental fund financial statements. Unavailable revenue is reported
only on the governmental funds balance sheet, and represents receivables which will not be collected
within the available period. For the School District, unavailable revenue includes delinquent property
taxes, intergovernmental grants, and miscellaneous revenues. These amounts are deferred and recognized
as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become available. Deferred inflows of resources
related to pension are reported on the government-wide statement of net pension. (See Note 14)

Expenses/Expenditures On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are
incurred. The fair value of donated commodities used during the year is reported on the operating
statement as an expense with a like amount reported as donated commodities revenue. Unused donated
commodities are also reported as donated commodities revenue.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in
which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and
amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds.

E. Budgetary Data

All funds, other than agency funds, are legally required to be budgeted and appropriated. The major
documents prepared are the tax budget, the appropriation resolution and the certificate of estimated
resources, which are prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting. The tax budget demonstrates a need
for existing or increased tax rates. The certificate of estimated resources establishes a limit on the
amounts that the Board may appropriate. The appropriation resolution is the Board’s authorization to
spend resources and sets annual limits on expenditures plus encumbrances at a level of control selected by
the Board. The legal level of control has been established by the Board at the fund level.

The certificate of estimated resources may be amended during the year if projected increases or decreases
in revenue are identified by the Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer. The amounts reported as the original
budgeted amounts in the budgetary statements reflect the amounts in the certificate when the original
appropriations were adopted. The amounts reported as the final budgeted amounts in the budgetary
statements reflect the amounts in the final amended certificate that was in effect at the time the final
appropriations were passed by the Board of Education.

The appropriation resolution is subject to amendment by the Board throughout the year with the
restriction that appropriations may not exceed estimated revenues. The amounts reported as the original
budgeted amounts reflect the first appropriation for that fund that covered the entire fiscal year, including
amounts automatically carried over from prior years. The amounts reported as the final budgeted
amounts represent the final appropriation amounts passed by the Board during the fiscal year.
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F. Cash and Cash Equivalents

To improve cash management, cash received by the School District is pooled. Monies for all funds,
including the proprietary fund, are maintained in this pool. Individual fund integrity is maintained
through School District records. Each fund’s interest in the pool is presented as “Equity in Pooled Cash
and Cash Equivalents” or “Investments” on the financial statements.

The School District utilizes a fiscal agent to hold monies set-aside for debt service payments. Monies are
placed with a fiscal agent to ensure adequate payment of debt when it comes due. The balances in these
accounts are presented on the financial statements as “Cash and Cash Equivalents with Fiscal Agents”
and “Investments with Fiscal Agents”.

During fiscal year 2018, investments were limited to STAR Ohio, certificates of deposit, treasury notes
and bills, federal agency securities and commercial paper.

Except for nonparticipating investment contracts, investments are reported at fair value, which is based on
guoted market prices. Nonparticipating investment contracts, such as repurchase agreements, are reported
at cost.

The School District has invested funds in the State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Ohio) during
fiscal year 2018. STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer’s Office, which
allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not
registered with the SEC as an investment company, but does operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7
of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in STAR Ohio are valued at STAR Ohio’s share
price, which is the price the investment could be sold for on June 30, 2018.

Under existing Ohio statute, interest earnings are allocated to the general fund unless the Board of
Education has, by resolution, specified funds to receive an allocation of interest earnings. Interest
revenue credited to the general fund during fiscal year 2018 amounted to $1,442,772 which includes
$848,001 assigned from other School District funds.

For presentation on the financial statements, investments of the cash management pool and investments
with an original maturity of three months or less at the time they are purchased by the School District are
considered to be cash equivalents. Investments with an initial maturity of more than three months are
reported as investments.

G. Fund Balance

Fund Balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the District is
bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds. The
classifications are as follows:

Nonspendable: The nonspendable fund balance category included amounts that cannot be spent
because they are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained
intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted
to cash.

Restricted: Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources
are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors,
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contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or is imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed: The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only
for the specific purposes imposed by a formal action (resolution) of the Board of Education.
Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Board of Education
removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action (resolution) it employed
to previously commit those amounts. In contrast to fund balance that is restricted by enabling
legislation, committed fund balance classification may be redeployed for other purposes with
appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of committed amounts are imposed by
the Board of Education, separate from the authorization to raise the underlying revenue;
therefore, compliance with these restraints is not considered to be legally enforceable.
Committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing
resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual
requirements.

Assigned: Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the
District for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or
committed. In governmental funds other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents
the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. In the General Fund, assigned amount
represents intended uses established by the Board of Education or the Chief Financial Officer
which has been delegated that authority by the CEO.

Unassigned: Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and
includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other governmental
funds, the unassigned classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from
overspending for a specific purpose for which amounts had been restricted, committed, or
assigned.

The District applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within
unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then
unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

H. Prepaid Items

Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond June 30, 2018 are recorded as
prepaid items using the consumption method. A current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the
time of the purchase and an expenditure/expense is reported in the year in which services are consumed.

I. Inventory

Inventories are presented at cost on a first-in, first-out basis and are expended/expensed when used.
Inventories consisted of donated and purchased food and materials and supplies held for consumption.
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J. Capital Assets

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in proprietary funds.
These assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in
the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported on the fund financial statements.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and
reductions during the year. Donated capital assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the date
received. The School District maintains a capitalization threshold of fifty thousand dollars. The School
District does not possess any infrastructure. Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend an asset’s life are
not capitalized. Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets is also not capitalized.

All reported capital assets, except land and construction in progress, are depreciated. Improvements are
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Intangible assets identified
pursuant to GASB Statement No. 51, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets, have
been classified separately from other assets capitalized by the School District. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Governmental
Activities
Description Estimated Lives
Land Improvements 25 years
Buildings and Improvements 25 - 50 years
Vehicles and Equipment 7 - 15 years
Internal Generated Software 5-10 years

Estimated lives for buildings and improvements of schools that will be demolished or inactivated for
educational purposes under the current capital facility plan have been adjusted so they are fully
depreciated by the anticipated year of demolition or inactivation.

K. Inter-fund Balances

On fund financial statements, receivables and payables resulting from short-term inter-fund loans are
classified as “inter-fund receivables/payables”. These amounts are eliminated in the governmental
activities column of the statement of net position.

L. Pensions and Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net pension/OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pension/OPEB, and pension/OPEB expense; information about the
fiduciary net position of the pension/OPEB plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net
positon have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension/OPEB plan. For this
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. The pension/OPEB plans report investments at fair value.
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M. Compensated Absences

Vacation benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the employees’ rights to receive
compensation are attributable to services already rendered and it is probable that the School District will
compensate the employees for the benefits through paid time off or some other means. The School
District records a liability for accumulated unused vacation time when earned for all employees.

Sick leave benefits are accrued as a liability using the termination payment method. An accrual for earned
sick leave is made to the extent it is probable that benefits will result in termination payments. The
liability is an estimate based on a five year history of the School District’s actual payments.

The entire compensated absence liability is reported on the government-wide financial statements.

For governmental fund financial statements, compensated absences are recognized as a liability and
expenditure to the extent payments come due each period upon the occurrence of employee resignations
and retirements. These amounts are recorded in the account "accrued wages and benefits" in the fund
from which the employees who have accumulated leave are paid. The General Fund is typically used to
liquidate the compensated absences.

N. Bond Premium

On the government-wide financial statements, bond premiums are deferred and amortized over the term
of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bond premiums are presented as an increase of the face
amount of the bonds payable. On governmental fund statements, bond premiums are reported as another
financing source when received.

O. Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely
manner and in full from current financial resources and are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
claims and judgments, compensated absences, contractually required pension contributions, capital lease
obligations, and EPA asbestos abatement loans that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as
a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the
current year. In general, liabilities that mature or come due for payment during the fiscal year are
considered to have been made with current available financial resources. Bonds and other long-term
obligations that will be paid from governmental funds are recognized as a liability in the fund financial
statements when due. Net pension/OPEB liability should be recognized in the governmental funds to the
extent that benefit payments are due and payable and the pension/OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is
not sufficient for payment of those benefits.

P. Net Position

Net Position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets
consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any
borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported
as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use through external restrictions imposed by
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creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. Net position for other purposes included
resources restricted for non-public schools and community involvement.

The government-wide statement of net position reports $268,333,084 of restricted net position, none of
which is restricted by enabling legislation.

The School District applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which
both restricted and unrestricted net position are available.

Q. Internal Activity

Transfers between governmental activities are eliminated on the government-wide financial statements.
Internal events that are allocations of overhead expenses from one function to another or within the same
function are eliminated on the Statement of Activities. Inter-fund payments for services provided and used
are not eliminated.

Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as
expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a
requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other
financing sources/uses in governmental funds and after nonoperating revenues/expenses in the proprietary
funds. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to the funds that initially
paid for them are not presented on the financial statements.

R. Operating Revenue and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the
proprietary funds. For the School District, these revenues are charges for services for self-insurance
programs. Operating expenses are necessary costs incurred to provide the good or service that is the
primary activity of the fund. Any revenues and expenses not meeting the definitions of operating are
reported as non-operating.

S. Contribution of Capital
Contributions of capital in proprietary fund financial statements arise from outside contributions of capital

assets, or from grants or outside contributions of resources restricted to capital acquisition and
construction. The proprietary fund received no contributions of capital during the current fiscal year.

T. Extraordinary and Special Items

Extraordinary items are transactions or events that are both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence.
Special items are transactions or events that are within the control of the Board of Education and that are
either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence. Neither type of transaction occurred during the
current fiscal year.

U. Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial

statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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V. Restatement of Fund Balance

During the fiscal year, the District discovered the liability associated with Incurred But Not Reported
(IBNR) claims of the District’s self-insurance plan was excluded from the Fiscal Year 2017 Statement of
Net Position for the Proprietary Fund. IBNR represents insurance expenses incurred as the year end but
not yet invoiced.

Net Position Restated Net
6/30/17 Additions Deductions Position 6/30/17
Proprietary Fund $ 11,870,773 $ - $ 10,211,000 $ 1,659,773

Note 3 — Change in Accounting Principles

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the School District has implemented Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial reporting for Postemployment
Benefits other than Pensions, GASB Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, GASB
Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017 and GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishments.

GASB Statement No. 75 requires recognition of the entire net postemployment benefits other than
pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB) liability and a more comprehensive measure of
postemployment benefits expense for OPEB provided to the employees of state and local governmental
employers through OPEB plans that are administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements. The
implementation of GASB Statement No. 75 resulted in the inclusion of net OPEB liability and OPEB
expense components on the accrual financial statements. See below for the effect on net position as
previously reported.

Net Position June 30, 2017 $ 164,306,723
Change in Net Position due to Unrecorded IBNR (10,211,000)
Restated Net Position June 30, 2017 154,095,723
Adjustments:
Net OPEB Liability (219,654,060)
Deferred Outflow-Payments Subsequent to Measurement Date 791,147
Restated Net Position, July 1, 2017 $ (64,767,190)

Other than employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date, the School District made no
restatement for deferred inflows/outflows of resources as the information needed to generate these
restatements was not available.

41-



Cleveland Municipal School District
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

|
Note 4 — Accountability and Compliance
Accountability

The following funds had deficit fund balances as of June 30, 2018:

Special Revenue Funds

Other Local $ 909,809
Other State 94,805
Title VI-B Special Education 2,140,502
Vocational Education 99,879
Title | 1,981,692
Improving Teacher Quality Title 11-A 303,214
Other Federal 3,163,865

The deficits in the special revenue funds resulted from the recognition of accrued liabilities. The general
fund is liable for any deficit in these funds and provides transfers when cash is required, rather than when
accruals occur.

Compliance

Ohio Revised Code Section 5705.41(B) prohibits a subdivision from making an expenditure unless it has
been appropriated as provided in Chapter 5705 of the Revised Code.

As of June 30, 2018, the following District’s funds had expenditures plus encumbrances which exceeded
the funds appropriations, contrary to the above requirement

Expenditures

Plus
Fund Appropriation Encumbrances Variance
Title | $ 40,914,076 $ 42,849,209 $ 1,935,133

This weakness may result in the District spending more than their available resources.
Note 5 — Fund Balances

Fund balance is classified in five categories (1) Nonspendable, (2) Restricted, (3) Committed, (4)
Assigned and (5) Unassigned. Nonspendable fund balances include amounts that are not in spendable
form or are legally required to remain intact. Restricted fund balances include amounts that have external
restrictions by either grantors, debt covenants, laws or other governments. Committed fund balances
include amounts that are committed to a specific purpose by board ordinance. Assigned fund balances
include amounts to be used for a specific purpose. Unassigned fund balances include amounts that have
not been assigned to any purpose.
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The constraints placed on fund balance for the major governmental funds and all other governmental
funds are presented below:

Permanent Classroom Gov?r;hnelrental Total Governmental
Fund Balances General Debt Service Improvement Facilites Funds Funds
Nonspendable
Inventory $ 903,052 § 0 $ 0 3 0 $ 1519496 $ 2,422,548
Restricted for
Debt Service Payments 0 44,565,011 0 0 0 44,565,011
Capital Improvements 0 0 100,313,108 74,413,538 0 174,726,646
Education Special Trust 0 0 0 0 9,159,821 9,159,821
Classroom Facilities Maintenance 0 0 0 0 5,974,098 5,974,098
Partnering Community Schools 0 0 0 0 1,567,598 1,567,598
Food Service Operations 0 0 0 0 1,219,864 1,219,864
Other Purposes 0 0 0 0 4,318,010 4,318,010
Total Restricted 0 44,565,011 100,313,108 74,413,538 22,239,391 241,531,048
Assigned to:
Other Purposes 11,054,516 0 0 0 0 11,054,516
Subsequent Year Appropriations 47,693,223 0 0 0 0 47,693,223
Total Assigned 58,747,739 0 0 0 0 58,747,739
Unassigned (Deficit) 0 0 0 0 (8,693,766) (8,693,766)
Total Fund Balances $ 59,650,791 § 44565011 $ 100,313,108 $ 74413538 $ 15,065,121  $ 294,007,569

For the purposes in the above chart, the Restricted Fund Balance for Other Purposes consists of Public
School Support, Other Grants, District Managed Activity, Auxiliary Services, Miscellaneous State
Grants, Management Information Systems, Public School Preschool, Data Communications for School
Buildings, Interactive Distance Learning, Vocational Education Enhancement, Alternative Schools,
Miscellaneous Federal Grants and School Maintenance and Operational Assistance. The Assigned Fund
Balance for Other Purposes is for the monies that the District has assigned to specific purposes through
encumbrances out of the General Fund.

Note 6 - Budgetary Basis of Accounting

While the School District is reporting financial position, results of operations and changes in fund balance
on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP basis), the budgetary basis as provided
by law is based upon accounting for certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts, disbursements and
encumbrances. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (Non-
GAAP Basis) and Actual presented for the general fund is presented on the budgetary basis to provide a
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meaningful comparison of actual results with the budget. The major differences between the budget basis
and GAAP basis are that:

1. Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget basis) as opposed to when
susceptible to accrual (GAAP basis);

2. Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (budget basis) as opposed to when the
liability is incurred (GAAP basis);

3. In order to determine compliance with Ohio law, and to reserve that portion of the
applicable appropriation, total outstanding encumbrances (budget basis) are recorded as
the equivalent of an expenditure, as opposed to assigned or committed fund balance for
that portion of outstanding encumbrances not already recognized as an account payable
(GAAP basis);

4. Investments are reported at cost (budget basis) rather than fair value (GAAP basis).

The following table summarizes the adjustments necessary to reconcile the GAAP basis statement to the
budgetary basis statement on a fund type basis for the general fund.

Net Change in Fund Balance

GAAP Basis $ (32,150,035)
Net Adjustment for Revenue Accruals (4,820,815)
Advances In 5,111,000
Net Adjustment for Expenditure Accruals (347,050)
Advances Out (4,000,000)
Adjustment for Encumbrances (16,898,437)
Budget Basis $ (53,105,337)

Note 7 - Deposits and Investments

The School District has chosen to follow State statutes in order to classify monies held by the School
District into three categories.

Active deposits are public deposits necessary to meet current demands on the School District treasury.
Active monies must be maintained either as cash in the School District treasury, in commercial accounts
payable or withdrawable on demand, including negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts, or in
money market deposit accounts.

Inactive deposits are public deposits that the Board has identified as not required for use within the
current five year period of designation of depositories. Inactive deposits must either be evidenced by
certificates of deposit maturing not later than the end of the current period of designation of depositories,
or by savings or deposit accounts including, but not limited to, passbook accounts.

Interim deposits are deposits of interim monies. Interim monies are those monies which are not needed
for immediate use but which will be needed before the end of the current period of designation of
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depositories. Interim deposits must be evidenced by time certificates of deposit maturing not more than
one year from the date of deposit or by savings or deposit accounts including passbook accounts.

Protection of the School District's deposits is provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC), by eligible securities pledged by the financial institution as security for repayment, or by the
financial institutions participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of
eligible securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the
repayment of all public monies deposited in the financial institution.

Under Ohio statutes and School District investment policy, interim monies may be deposited or invested
in the following securities:

1. United States Treasury Notes, Bills, Bonds, or any other obligation or security issued by
the United States Treasury or any other obligation guaranteed as to principal and interest
by the United States;

2. Bonds, notes, debentures, or any other obligations or securities issued by any federal
government agency or instrumentality, including but not limited to, the Federal National
Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Government National Mortgage Association, and
Student Loan Marketing Association. All federal agency securities shall be direct
issuances of federal government agencies or instrumentalities;

3. Written repurchase agreements in the securities listed above provided that the market
value of the securities subject to the repurchase agreement must exceed the principal
value of the agreement by at least two percent and be marked to market daily, and that the
term of the agreement must not exceed thirty days;

4, Bonds and other obligations of the State of Ohio;

5. No-load money market mutual funds consisting exclusively of obligations described in
division (1) or (2) of this section and repurchase agreements secured by such obligations,
provided that investments in securities described in this division are made only through
eligible institutions;

6. The State Treasurer's investment pool (STAR Ohio);

7. Certain banker’s acceptances and commercial paper notes for a period not to exceed one
hundred and eighty days in an amount not to exceed twenty-five percent of the interim
monies available for investment at any one time; and,

8. Under limited circumstances, corporate debt interests rated in either of the two highest
classifications by at least two nationally recognized rating agencies.

Investments in stripped principal or interest obligations reverse repurchase agreements and derivatives are
prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes for the purpose of arbitrage, the use of leverage and short
selling are also prohibited. An investment must mature within five years from the date of purchase unless
matched to a specific obligation or debt of the School District, and must be purchased with the
expectation that it will be held to maturity.
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Investments may only be made through specified dealers and institutions. Payment for investments may
be made only upon delivery of the securities representing the investments to the Chief Financial
Officer/Treasurer or, if the securities are not represented by a certificate, upon receipt of confirmation or
transfer from the custodian.

Deposits with Financial Institutions

Based on the criteria described in GASB Statement No. 40, “Deposits and Investment Risk Disclosures,”
the School District’s bank balance was $117,595,901 at fiscal year-end. Of the bank balance, $1,513,797
was covered by federal depository insurance and $116,082,104 was uninsured but collateralized with
securities held by a pledging financial institution or by its trust department or agent although not in the
School District’s name.

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the District will not be able to recover
deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The District has no deposit
policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio Law requires that deposits
either be insured or protected by (1) eligible securities pledged to the School District and deposited with a
qualified trustee by the financial institution as security for repayment whose market value at all times
shall be at least 105 percent of the deposits being secured, or (2) participation in the Ohio Pooled
Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of eligible securities deposited with a qualified trustee and
pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the repayment of all public monies deposited in the financial
institution. OPCS requires the total market value of the securities pledged to be 102 percent of the
deposits being secured or a rate set by the Treasurer of State. For 2018, the District’s financial
institutions were approved for a reduced collateral rate of 50 percent through the OPCS. Although the
statutory requirements for deposit of money had been followed, noncompliance with federal requirements
could potentially subject the District to a successful claim by the FDIC.

Investments

Investments are reported at fair value. The District’s investments in U.S. Government money market
mutual funds are valued using quoted market prices in active markets (Level 1 inputs). The District’s
investments in federal agency securities (FHLB, FHLMC, and FNMA), commercial paper, U.S. Treasury
bills, U.S. Treasury notes, and negotiable CD’s are valued using quoted prices in markets that are not
considered to be active, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources for similar assets or liabilities for
which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs). As of June 30,
2018, the School District had the following investments:

Maturity
More Than
One Year
Less Than But Less Than
One Year Five Years Total
U.S. Agency Obligations $ 81,927,194 $ 141,766,795 $ 223,693,989
STAR Ohio 2,152,611 0 2,152,611
Total Portfolio $ 84,079,805 $ 141,766,795 $ 225,846,600
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Interest Rate Risk Ohio Revised Code and School District investment policy limits security purchases to
those that mature within five years of the settlement date. School District investment policy also limits
commercial paper purchases to issues from companies incorporated in the United States which have
assets in excess of $500 million and whose issues are rated in the highest classification by at least two
standard rating services. The commercial paper must mature within 180 days of settlement date and the
total holding of commercial paper may not exceed 25 percent of the portfolio, under Ohio Revised Code
and School District investment policy. Money market mutual funds must be rated in the highest
classification by at least one standard rating service and invest exclusively in eligible securities listed
above, under School District investment policy.

Credit Risk The School District’s investments at June 30, 2018 in FHLMC, FNMA, FFCB, FAMC and
FHLB agency securities were rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s. The investments in STAR Ohio were
rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. The School District has an investment policy to minimize credit risk
by diversifying assets by issuer, ensuring that required minimum credit quality ratings exist and
maintaining adequate collateralization of certificates of deposits.

Concentration of Credit Risk The School District places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one
issuer. The following is the School District’s allocation as of June 30, 2018:

FHLB 33.91%
FHLMC 14.56%
FNMA 34.36%
FAMC 4.61%
FFCB 11.61%
STAR Ohio 0.95%

Note 8 - Prope